UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research at Birmingham

Twisted indices, Bethe ideals and 3d N = 2 infrared dualities

Closset, Cyril; Khlaif, Osama

DOI:

10.1007/jhep05(2023)148

License:

Creative Commons: Attribution (CC BY)

Document Version

Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Citation for published version (Harvard):

Closset, C & Khlaif, O 2023, 'Twisted indices, Bethe ideals and 3d N = 2 infrared dualities', *Journal of High Energy Physics*, vol. 2023, no. 5, 148. https://doi.org/10.1007/jhep05(2023)148

Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal

General rights

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

•Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.

•Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.

•User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?)

•Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.

Download date: 03. May. 2024



RECEIVED: *March 2, 2023* ACCEPTED: *May 10, 2023* PUBLISHED: *May 17, 2023*

Twisted indices, Bethe ideals and 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ infrared dualities

Cyril Closset and Osama Khlaif

School of Mathematics, University of Birmingham, Watson Building, Edgbaston, Birmingham B15 2TT, United Kingdom

E-mail: c.closset@bham.ac.uk, o.khlaif@bham.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We study the topologically twisted index of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric gauge theories with unitary gauge groups. We implement a Gröbner basis algorithm for computing the $\Sigma_g \times S^1$ index explicitly and exactly in terms of the associated Bethe ideal, which is defined as the algebraic ideal associated with the Bethe equations of the corresponding 3d A-model. We then revisit recently discovered infrared dualities for unitary SQCD with gauge group $\mathrm{U}(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ with $l \neq 0$, namely the Nii duality that generalises the Giveon-Kutasov duality, the Amariti-Rota duality that generalises the Aharony duality, and their further generalisations in the case of arbitrary numbers of fundamental and antifundamental chiral multiplets. In particular, we determine all the flavour Chern-Simons contact terms needed to make these dualities work. This allows us to check that the twisted indices of dual theories match exactly. We also initiate the study of the Witten index of unitary SQCD with $l \neq 0$.

Keywords: Supersymmetric Gauge Theory, Supersymmetry and Duality, Topological Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2301.10753

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1					
2	Twi	sted indices of unitary gauge theories from Bethe ideals	3					
	2.1	Twisted index and Bethe vacua	3					
	2.2	Parity anomaly, CS contact terms and bare CS levels	8					
	2.3	Bethe ideal and companion matrix method	10					
3	Twi	sted indices for unitary SQCD	14					
	3.1	Defining 3d SQCD: flavour symmetry and Chern-Simons contact terms	14					
	3.2	Unitary SQCD and its dual description	17					
	3.3	Twisted index for $U(N_c)_{0,lN_c}$, N_f SQCD	19					
	3.4	The Witten index for $n_f = n_a$ and $k \neq 0$	20					
	3.5	Twisted index for chiral theories	21					
4	Infr	ared dualities for $U(N_c)_k$ SQCD, revisited	23					
	4.1	Aharony duality $(k = l = 0, n_f = n_a)$	23					
	4.2	Minimally chiral duality with $l=0$	24					
	4.3	Marginally chiral duality with $l=0$	25					
	4.4	Maximally chiral duality with $l=0$	26					
	4.5	Special cases: abelian dualities	28					
5	Infrared dualities for $\mathrm{U}(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ SQCD							
	5.1	$\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ action and the 3d A-model	29					
	5.2	From $U(N_c)_k$ to $U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ SQCD	31					
	5.3	Amariti-Rota duality $(k = 0, n_f = n_a)$	32					
	5.4	Minimally chiral duality with general l	34					
	5.5	Marginally chiral duality with general l	34					
	5.6	Maximally chiral duality with general l	37					
\mathbf{A}	Rea	l mass deformations and the $l=0$ dualities	39					
	A.1	Integrating out massive chiral multiplets	39					
	A.2	Flowing from Aharony duality	40					
		A.2.1 Minimally chiral duality: $ k > k_c $	41					
		A.2.2 Marginally chiral duality: $ k = k_c $	42					
		A.2.3 Maximally chiral duality: $ k < k_c $	42					

1 Introduction

Many half-BPS observables of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric field theories can be computed exactly. In particular, exact results are known for the supersymmetric partition functions of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ gauge theories on any half-BPS closed 3-manifold — see e.g. [1–5] and the review [6] for the best studied examples. These exact results are obtained through supersymmetric localisation methods, and they are typically given in terms of an ordinary integral over the Cartan subalgebra of the gauge algebra or of some complexification thereof. This leaves one with the still-challenging task of evaluating that integral explicitly.

An alternative approach uses the Seifert fibration that exists on most half-BPS closed 3-manifolds [7] — see [8] for a review. In this case, the computation of many observables is reduced to a problem in an auxilliary $2d \mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ field theory subjected to the topological A-twist, sometimes called the 3d A-model [9, 10]. In this work, we are concerned with the simplest such partition function, the so-called *twisted index*, which captures the Witten index [11] of the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory on a Riemann surface of genus g. It is equal to the supersymmetric partition function on $\Sigma_g \times S^1$ [12–15]:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}(y) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\Sigma_g}((-1)^D y^{Q_F}).$$
(1.1)

The twisted index depends on various fugacities, here denoted by y, for the flavour symmetry with charges Q_F . For g = 1, the twisted index reduces to the ordinary (flavoured) Witten index, which must be an integer [16, 17]. More generally, the twisted index is a rational function of the flavour fugacities:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1} \in \mathbb{C}(y). \tag{1.2}$$

We are interested in computing this index as explicitly and efficiently as possible. It is most convenient to view the index as a trace over the Hilbert space of the 3d A-model, which amounts to a sum over all the so-called Bethe vacua (the 2d vacua of the A-model) [12]:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}(y) = \sum_{\widehat{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{\text{RE}}} \mathcal{H}(\widehat{x}, y)^{g-1}.$$
 (1.3)

Here $x = \hat{x}$ are the solutions to the Bethe equations (the 2d vacuum equation), which reads:

$$\Pi_a(x) \equiv \exp\left((2\pi i)^2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \log x_a}\right) = 1, \qquad a = 1, \dots, \text{rk}(G),$$
(1.4)

schematically. G denotes the gauge group and \mathcal{W} is the effective twisted superpotential of the 3d A-model. The object $\mathcal{H}(x,y)$ appearing in (1.3) is the handle-gluing operator [12]. The Witten index of the 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric theory is then identified with the number of Bethe vacua in the corresponding 3d A-model.²

¹The name 'Bethe equations' is the short form of 'Bethe ansatz equations', and it arose because of the Bethe/gauge correspondence of Nekrasov and Shatashvili [18].

²To avoid any confusion, let us recall that, despite its ill-conceived name, the 3d A-model is a 2d TQFT.

In this paper, we choose G to be a product of unitary gauge groups, $G = \prod_I \mathrm{U}(N_I)$. In this case, we can implement powerful computational algebraic geometry methods to compute the sum (1.3), as advocated by [19, 20] in a slightly different context. The basic idea is to view the Bethe equations as generating an algebraic ideal, called the Bethe ideal $\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}$, in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{C}[x]$, and to expand this ideal in a Gröbner basis $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}})$. Then, we can associate to the A-model operator \mathcal{H} its companion matrix [21], a $\mathbb{C}(y)$ -valued matrix obtained by expanding out the handle-gluing operator along $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}})$. The twisted index (1.3) can be computed as the trace of the companion matrix of \mathcal{H} raised to the $(g-1)^{\mathrm{th}}$ power. These Gröbner-basis computations are easily implemented on a computer, which allows us to evaluate (1.3) completely explicitly in numerous examples. Note that Gröbner bases were previously used in [25] to compute the Witten index of various theories; see also the recent work [26] for a related approach to 3d $\mathcal{N}=2^*$ quivers.

Another reason to study unitary gauge theories is that they enjoy infrared (Seiberg-like) dualities [27–30]. Such dualities have been extensively studied in recent years [31–55], and they can even be related to non-supersymmetric 'bosonisation' dualities in 3d — see e.g. [56–63]. In the second half of this paper, we focus on $SQCD[N_c, k, l, n_f, n_a]$, defined as a 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ U $(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ gauge theory with n_f fundamental chiral multiplets and n_a antifundamental chiral multiplets. Importantly, we allow for generic Chern-Simons levels k and $(k+lN_c)N_c$ for the SU(N) and U(1) factors of $U(N_c)\cong (SU(N_c)\times U(1))/\mathbb{Z}_{N_c}$. We initiate a more systematic study of unitary SQCD with $l\neq 0$, including by computing its Witten index when $n_f=n_a$.

The precise form of the dual gauge theory description of unitary SQCD depends non-trivially on the CS levels k and l. For l=0, we have the famous Aharony duality (for k=0, $n_f=n_a$) [28], the Giveon-Kutasov duality (for $k\neq 0$, $n_f=n_a$) [29], and some 'chiral' Seiberg-like dualities (for $n_f\neq n_a$) [30]. Very recently, these dualities were generalised to the case $l\neq 0$ by Nii [48] (for $k\neq 0$, $n_f=n_a$) and by Amariti and Rota [64] (in the other cases). All these new dualities can be obtained from the standard l=0 dualities by a suitable application of the Kapustin-Strassler-Witten $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ action on 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ field theories [65, 66], as first pointed out in [64]. We revisit this derivation and clarify some subtle aspects of it, especially as it pertains to the various Chern-Simons contact terms which must be determined in order to fully specify any 3d duality. Finally, we can use our formalism to compute the twisted index of dual theories. We verify that they match exactly in many examples, as expected. This is a nice check on our derivation of these dualities with $l\neq 0$, including of all their (background and dynamical) Chern-Simons terms.

This paper is organised as follows. In section 2, we set up the stage and discuss the class of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ unitary gauge theories that we will study. After explaining our 3d conventions, we show how to compute the twisted index using the companion matrix algorithm. In section 3, we study some aspects of the twisted index of unitary SQCD, including its Witten index. In section 4, we review the infrared dualities for SQCD with l=0. Finally, we rederive all the $l\neq 0$ dualities in section 5.

³All the algebraic geometry computations for this paper were performed using Singular [22] interfaced with Mathematica [23] using a modified version of the *Singular.m* package [24].

2 Twisted indices of unitary gauge theories from Bethe ideals

In this section, we discuss any 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric gauge theory with a gauge group:

$$G = \prod_{I=1}^{n_G} U(N_I), \qquad (2.1)$$

with chiral multiplets Φ_i in representations \mathfrak{R}_i of G. For any such theory, we explain how to compute the twisted index exactly, using the computational algebraic geometry approach of [19]. For each $\mathrm{U}(N)$ gauge group, we keep track of the Chern-Simons levels K and K+LN, corresponding to the two factors in $\mathrm{U}(N)\cong(\mathrm{SU}(N)\times\mathrm{U}(1))/\mathbb{Z}_N$. For $A=A_\mu dx^\mu$ a $\mathrm{U}(N)$ gauge field, we have:

$$i\frac{K}{4\pi}\int \operatorname{tr}\left(A\wedge dA - \frac{2i}{3}A^3\right) + i\frac{L}{4\pi}\int \operatorname{tr}(A)\wedge d\operatorname{tr}(A),$$
 (2.2)

with the trace in the fundamental representation, plus the standard supersymmetric completion. Setting k = K and l = L, this Chern-Simons theory is generally denoted by [67]:

$$U(N)_{k,\,k+lN}\,, (2.3)$$

and we sometimes use the notation $U(N)_k$ for the special case l=0. In this normalisation, the overall $U(1) \subset U(N)$ gauge field $\frac{1}{N} tr(A)$ has an abelian CS level:

$$k_{\rm U(1)} = N(k+lN)$$
. (2.4)

Let us already note that, in the presence of charged fermions, the levels k, l appearing in (2.3) are not exactly the bare CS levels K, L that appear in (2.2) due to certain one-loop shifts, as we will review momentarily.

2.1 Twisted index and Bethe vacua

The Σ_g twisted index is the Witten index of the 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric theory compactified on Σ_g with the topological A-twist [12–15]:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}(y)_{\mathfrak{n}} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\Sigma_g;\mathfrak{n}} \left((-1)^F \prod_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}^{Q_F^{\alpha}} \right). \tag{2.5}$$

We turn on background vector multiplets preserving the two A-twist supercharges, hence the index depends on fugacities y_{α} and on background fluxes \mathfrak{n}_{α} . We chose a maximal torus of the flavour group G_F , whose rank is denoted by r_F :

$$\prod_{\alpha=1}^{r_F} U(1)_{\alpha} \subseteq G_F , \qquad (2.6)$$

and Q_F^{α} denotes the corresponding conserved charges. We choose the periodic boundary condition along the S^1 for the fermions.⁴ We also choose the so-called 'U(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}} quantisation' for all chiral multiplets [9, 10], as we will review momentarily.

⁴See [10] for a discussion of the more general case.

After compactifying the 3d theory on a circle, let us consider the Coulomb branch of the effective 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ Kaluza-Klein (KK) theory, which is spanned by dimensionless gauge parameters

$$u_{a_I} = a_{a_I}^{(0)} + i\beta \sigma_{a_I} \,, \tag{2.7}$$

where $a_{a_I}^{(0)}$ corresponds to the holonomy of the 3d abelian gauge field along the circle of radius β , and σ_{a_I} are the 3d vector-multiplet scalars; here we use the index $a_I = 1, \dots, N_I$ for a given $U(N_I)$ factor. The low-energy abelian gauge group is the maximal torus subgroup:

$$\prod_{I=1}^{n_G} \prod_{a_I=1}^{N_I} U(1)_{a_I} \subseteq G, \qquad (2.8)$$

of rank $r_G = \sum_{I=1}^{n_G} N_I$. The twisted index can be computed entirely in terms of the effective twisted superpotential \mathcal{W} and the effective dilaton potential Ω . These holomorphic functions of the gauge parameters u_{a_I} and of flavour parameters ν_{α} govern the topological A-twist of the 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ KK theory — this 2d TQFT is also called the '3d A-model' [9]. Because of 3d gauge invariance, the variables u and ν are periodic ($u_{a_I} \sim u_{a_I} + 1$ and $\nu_{\alpha} \sim \nu_{\alpha} + 1$), and it is useful to introduce the single-valued variables:

$$x_{a_I} \equiv e^{2\pi i u_{a_I}}, \qquad y_{\alpha} \equiv e^{2\pi i \nu_{\alpha}}, \qquad (2.9)$$

with the index (2.5) being a meromorphic function of the flavour fugacities y_{α} . For each $U(N_I)$ gauge group, we also have a residual gauge symmetry S_{N_I} , the Weyl group of $U(N_I)$, which acts as permutations of the N_I parameters x_{a_I} (at any fixed I).

Effective twisted superpotential. The full low-energy twisted superpotential of the 3d gauge theory on a circle is given by the sum of some 'matter' and Chern-Simon contributions:

$$W = W_{\text{matter}} + W_{\text{CS},GG} + W_{\text{CS},GF} + W_{\text{CS},FF}, \qquad (2.10)$$

with

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{matter}} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{2}} \sum_{i} \sum_{\rho_{i} \in \mathfrak{R}_{i}} \text{Li}_{2}(x^{\rho_{i}}y^{\rho_{F,i}}),
\mathcal{W}_{\text{CS},GG} = \sum_{I=1}^{n_{G}} \left(\frac{K_{I}}{2} \sum_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} (u_{a_{I}}^{2} + u_{a_{I}}) + \frac{L_{I}}{2} \left(\left(\sum_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} u_{a_{I}} \right)^{2} + \sum_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} u_{a_{I}} \right) \right)
+ \sum_{I>J} K_{IJ} \left(\sum_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} u_{a_{I}} \right) \left(\sum_{a_{J}=1}^{N_{J}} u_{a_{J}} \right),
\mathcal{W}_{\text{CS},GF} = \sum_{I=1}^{n_{G}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r_{F}} K_{\alpha I} \nu_{\alpha} \left(\sum_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} u_{a_{I}} \right),
\mathcal{W}_{\text{CS},FF} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r_{F}} \frac{K_{\alpha}}{2} (\nu_{\alpha}^{2} + \nu_{\alpha}) + \sum_{\alpha>\beta} K_{\alpha\beta} \nu_{\alpha} \nu_{\beta} + \frac{1}{24} K_{g}.$$
(2.11)

Here, we have $x^{\rho_i} \equiv e^{2\pi i \rho_i(u)}$, for any weight ρ_i of the representation \mathfrak{R}_i of G under which the chiral multiplet Φ_i transforms. We also defined $y^{\rho_{F,i}} \equiv e^{2\pi i \rho_{F,i}(\nu)}$, where $\rho_{F,i}(\nu) = \sum_{\alpha} \rho_{F,i}^{\alpha} \nu_{\alpha}$, in terms of the U(1) $_{\alpha}$ flavour charges $\rho_{F,i}^{\alpha} = Q_F^{\alpha}[\Phi_i]$. In addition, the 'gauge-gauge' Chern-Simons terms $\mathcal{W}_{CS,GG}$ are the bare Chern-Simons terms for the gauge group, including mixed CS terms between distinct U(N_I) factors, and similarly for the mixed gauge-flavour CS terms $\mathcal{W}_{CS,GF}$ and the pure flavour CS terms $\mathcal{W}_{CS,FF}$, where we included the gravitational CS level K_g [68]. Note that $K_{IJ} = K_{JI}$ and $K_{\alpha\beta} = K_{\beta\alpha}$. The Fayet-Iliopoulos terms for each U(N_I) factor appear, in this formalism, as part of $\mathcal{W}_{CS,GF}$, as a mixed term between gauge and topological symmetries. (We usually use the notation $\nu_{\alpha} = \tau$ for a topological symmetry. Note that, due to the non-zero gauge CS levels, only a subset of the naive n_G topological currents will be independent of the other flavour currents, in general.) Let us also note that it is important to distinguish between 'bare CS levels' (denoted here by capital letters K or L) and 'effective CS levels' in the UV gauge theory (which we denote by k and l) — see [10, 69] and section 2.2 below.

Effective dilaton. Similarly, the effective dilaton potential reads:

$$\Omega = \Omega_{\text{matter}} + \Omega_{\text{CS}}. \tag{2.12}$$

Here, the first term includes contributions from the chiral multiplets Φ_i of R-charge r_i and from the W-bosons, while the second term captures $U(1)_R$ -gauge and $U(1)_R$ -flavour mixed CS levels, as well as a $U(1)_R$ CS levels [68]:

$$\Omega_{\text{matter}} = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{i} \sum_{\rho_{i} \in \mathfrak{R}_{i}} (r_{i} - 1) \log(1 - x^{\rho_{i}} y^{\rho_{F,i}})
- \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{I=1}^{n_{G}} \sum_{\substack{a_{I}, b_{I} \\ a_{I} \neq b_{I}}} \log(1 - x_{a_{I}} x_{I,b_{I}}^{-1}),$$

$$\Omega_{\text{CS}} = \sum_{I=1}^{n_{G}} K_{RI} \sum_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} u_{a_{I}} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r_{F}} K_{R\alpha} \nu_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} K_{RR}.$$
(2.13)

As in (2.11), we denote the bare CS levels by a capital K.

Flux operators and handle-gluing operators. Given W and Ω , one finds the gauge and flavour flux operators:

$$\Pi_{a_I}(x,y) \equiv \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial u_{a_I}}\right), \qquad \Pi_{\alpha}(x,y) \equiv \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \nu_{\alpha}}\right), \qquad (2.14)$$

respectively, and the handle-gluing operator:

$$\mathcal{H}(x,y) = e^{2\pi i\Omega} \times \det_{a_I,b_J} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{W}}{\partial u_{a_I} \partial u_{b_J}} \right). \tag{2.15}$$

⁵The gravitational CS term K_g will not play any role in this work, but we will keep track of it as it affects the phase of partition functions on generic Seifert manifolds [9, 10].

More explicitly, we have:

$$\Pi_{\alpha}(x,y) = \prod_{i} \prod_{\rho_{i} \in \mathfrak{R}_{i}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - x^{\rho_{i}} y^{\rho_{F,i}}} \right)^{\rho_{F,i}^{\alpha}} \prod_{I=1}^{n_{G}} \left(\prod_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} x_{a_{I}} \right)^{K_{\alpha I}} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r_{F}} (-y_{\alpha})^{K_{\alpha}} \prod_{\beta \neq \alpha} y_{\beta}^{K_{\alpha\beta}}, \quad (2.16)$$

for the flavour flux operators, and:

$$\mathcal{H}(x,y) = \prod_{i} \prod_{\rho_{i} \in \mathfrak{R}_{i}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - x^{\rho_{i}} y^{\rho_{F,i}}} \right)^{r_{i}-1} \prod_{I=1}^{n_{G}} \left(\prod_{a_{I} \neq b_{I}} \frac{1}{1 - x_{a_{I}} x_{b_{I}}^{-1}} \left(\prod_{a_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} x_{a_{I}} \right)^{K_{RI}} \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r_{F}} y_{\alpha}^{K_{R\alpha}} (-1)^{K_{RR}} \det(\mathbf{H}),$$
(2.17)

for the handle-gluing operator, with the $r_G \times r_G$ Hessian matrix

$$\mathbf{H}_{a_I,b_J} = \sum_{i} \rho_i^{a_I} \rho_i^{b_J} \frac{x^{\rho_i} y^{\rho_{F,i}}}{1 - x^{\rho_i} y^{\rho_{F,i}}} + \delta_{IJ} (\delta_{a_I b_J} K_I + L_I) + K_{IJ}, \qquad (2.18)$$

where $K_{IJ}=0$ if I=J. Importantly, (2.16) and (2.17) are rational functions of the variables x_{a_I} and y_{α} .

The Bethe equations. The gauge flux operators for our unitary gauge theories read:

$$\Pi_{a_{I}}(x,y) = \prod_{i} \prod_{\rho_{i} \in \mathfrak{R}_{i}} \left(\frac{1}{1-x^{\rho_{i}}y^{\rho_{F,i}}}\right)^{\rho_{i}^{a_{I}}} (-x_{a_{I}})^{K_{I}} (-1)^{L_{I}} \left(\prod_{b_{I}=1}^{N_{I}} x_{b_{I}}\right)^{L_{I}} \\
\times \prod_{J \neq I} \left(\prod_{b_{J}=1}^{N_{J}} x_{b_{J}}\right)^{K_{IJ}} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r_{F}} y_{\alpha}^{K_{\alpha I}}.$$
(2.19)

The 'Bethe vacua' are defined as the Coulomb-branch vacua of the 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ KK theory, which are determined from the effective twisted superpotential \mathcal{W} . They correspond to solutions to the Bethe equations,

$$\Pi_{a_I}(x,y) = 1 \,, \quad \forall I, a_I \,, \tag{2.20}$$

which are acted on freely by the Weyl group [70].⁶ These Bethe equations can be seen as a coupled system of r_G polynomial equations in the r_G variables x. Each complete Weyl orbit of allowable solutions gives a particular vacuum:

$$\mathcal{S}_{\mathrm{BE}} = \left\{ \widehat{x} = (\widehat{x}_{a_I}) \mid \Pi_{a_I}(\widehat{x}, y) = 1, \text{ and } \widehat{x}_{a_I} \neq \widehat{x}_{b_I}, \forall a_I \neq b_I, \text{ for each } I \right\} / W_G. \quad (2.21)$$

Here $W_G = S_{N_1} \times \cdots \times S_{N_m}$ is the Weyl group of G.

⁶Fixed points of the Weyl group correspond to would-be 2d vacua with a partially restored non-abelian gauge symmetry. This semi-classical analysis receives quantum correction, and it was convincingly argued in [70] that such vacua do not contribute — i.e. they are lifted by strong-coupling effects.

Twisted index as a sum over Bethe vacua. The flavoured Witten index [17] of a 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ theory is computed by its partition function on the torus with vanishing background fluxes:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W} = Z_{T^{2} \times S^{1}}(y)_{\mathfrak{n}=0} = \operatorname{Tr}_{T^{2}} \left((-1)^{F} \prod_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}^{Q_{F}^{\alpha}} \right).$$
 (2.22)

On a flat torus, supersymmetry prevents any dependence on y_{α} , which only acts as an infrared regulator, and the index is an integer which equals the number of Bethe vacua:

$$\mathbf{I}_W = |\mathcal{S}_{\text{BE}}|. \tag{2.23}$$

The topologically twisted index on Σ_g is then a natural generalisation of the 3d Witten index. Using the topological invariance along Σ_g , it can be computed as a trace over the topological A-model Hilbert space — that is, as a sum over Bethe vacua [12, 15]:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}(y)_{\mathfrak{n}} = \sum_{\widehat{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathrm{BF}}} \mathcal{H}(\widehat{x}, y)^{g-1} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r_F} \Pi_{\alpha}(\widehat{x}, y)^{\mathfrak{n}_{\alpha}}. \tag{2.24}$$

This is the formula which we would like to evaluate as explicitly as possible in this work.

Example: U(1)_k theory with n_f fundamentals. As a very simple example to illustrate the above formalism, consider a U(1)_k gauge theory with n_f charged chiral multiplets of charge 1 and R-charge r (with the constraint $k + \frac{n_f}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}$). Here, the UV Chern-Simons level is equal to k and therefore the bare CS level is

$$K = k + \frac{n_f}{2}$$
, (2.25)

as we review in the next subsection. We also have an $SU(n_f)$ flavour symmetry with fugacities y_i , $i = 1, \dots, n_f$, with $\prod_{i=1}^{n_f} y_i = 1$, and let us say that the n_f flavours transform in the antifundamental of $SU(n_f)$. The twisted superpotential then reads:

$$W = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \text{Li}_2(xy_i^{-1}) + \frac{K}{2}(u^2 + u) + \tau u, \qquad (2.26)$$

where we have chosen to set all bare CS terms for the non-gauge symmetries to zero except for a mixed CS term $K_{GT} = 1$ between the U(1) gauge symmetry and the topological symmetry U(1)_T (this gives the FI term, with τ the FI parameter). There is a single Bethe equation,

$$\Pi = \frac{(-x)^K q}{\prod_{i=1}^{n_f} (1 - xy_i^{-1})} = 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad P(x) \equiv \prod_{i=1}^{n_f} (y_i - x) - (-1)^K x^K q = 0,$$
 (2.27)

with the notation $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$. There are thus $\max(n_f, K)$ Bethe vacua, corresponding to the roots \hat{x} of this polynomial P(x). The handle-gluing operator reads

$$\mathcal{H}(x,y) = \prod_{i=1}^{n_f} (y_i - x)^{1-r} \left(K + \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \frac{x}{y_i - x} \right).$$
 (2.28)

For instance, let us choose k = 0, $n_f = 2$ and r = 0, with $(y_1, y_2) = (y, y^{-1})$. The Bethe vacua then correspond to the two solutions

$$\hat{x}_{\pm} = \frac{1 - qy + y^2 \pm \sqrt{(1 - qy + y^2)^2 - 4y^2}}{2y},$$
(2.29)

and plugging into

$$Z_{\Sigma_q \times S^1}(y, q)_0 = \mathcal{H}(\widehat{x}_-)^{g-1} + \mathcal{H}(\widehat{x}_+)^{g-1}, \qquad \mathcal{H}(x) = 1 - x^2,$$
 (2.30)

with $\mathfrak{n} = 0$, one finds

$$Z_{S^2 \times S^1} = 1$$
, $Z_{T^2 \times S^1} = 2$, $Z_{\Sigma_2 \times S^1} = 2 - y^2 - y^{-2} + 2q(y + y^{-1}) - q^2$, (2.31)

for g = 0, 1, 2. Given its definition as an index, it is clear that the final result for $Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}$ must be a rational function of the flavor fugacities, as is indeed the case here.

2.2 Parity anomaly, CS contact terms and bare CS levels

When quantising the various Dirac fermions present in our 3d gauge theories, it is important to specify how we deal with the corresponding parity anomalies [71–73]. Recall that a 'parity anomaly' in three space-time dimensions is a mixed anomaly between 3d parity and (background) gauge invariance. (Here 'parity' is really time reversal symmetry in Euclidean signature.) We choose to quantise all the fermions that appear in the free UV description in a gauge-preserving manner, hence generally breaking parity. In this, we follow exactly the conventions explained in appendix A of [10].

Let us denote the abelianised symmetries $U(1)_{\mathbf{a}}$ (where the index $\mathbf{a} = (a_I, \alpha)$ runs over gauge and flavour indices, considering a maximal torus of $G \times G_F$ for simplicity) under which chiral multiplets Φ_i have charges $\rho_i^{\mathbf{a}}$. For each chiral multiplet, we use the ' $U(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ quantization', which corresponds to having the CS contact terms $\kappa_{\mathbf{ab}} = -\frac{1}{2}\rho^{\mathbf{a}}\rho^{\mathbf{b}}$ — in particular, for a chiral multiplet coupled to a single U(1) with charge 1, we would generate a CS contact term $\kappa = -\frac{1}{2}$, hence the name. We then have the total 'matter' one-loop contributions:

$$\kappa_{\mathbf{ab}}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \sum_{\rho_i \in \mathfrak{R}} \rho_i^{\mathbf{a}} \rho_i^{\mathbf{b}}, \qquad (2.32)$$

with $\rho_i^{\mathbf{a}} = (\rho_i^{a_I}, \rho_{F,i}^{\alpha})$, noting that the sum $\sum_{\rho_i \in \mathfrak{R}}$ only runs over the gauge (non-flavour) weights. A similar discussion holds for non-abelian groups.

We should also consider the Chern-Simons contact terms involving the R-symmetry current and its superpartners [68, 69]. For the gauginos in vector multiplets, we choose the 'symmetric' quantisation for any pair of non-zero roots $\{\alpha, -\alpha\}$, so that the CS contact terms for the gauge symmetry is not shifted. On the other hand, it is most convenient to choose a 'U(1) $_{\frac{1}{2}}$ quantisation' for the U(1) $_R$ symmetry and for the gravitational CS contact term, which contribute $\delta \kappa_{RR} = \frac{1}{2} \text{dim}(G)$ and $\delta \kappa_g = \text{dim}(G)$, respectively [10]. In summary,

we have the UV 'matter' contributions (2.32) and

$$\kappa_{\mathbf{a}R}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \sum_{\rho_i \in \Re} \rho_i^{\mathbf{a}}(r_i - 1) ,$$

$$\kappa_{RR}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \dim(\Re_i)(r_i - 1)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \dim(G) ,$$

$$\kappa_g^{\Phi} = -\sum_{i} \dim(\Re_i) + \dim(G) ,$$
(2.33)

for the gauge-R, RR and gravitational contact terms, respectively.

To define the gauge theory in the UV, we need to specify all the 'Chern-Simons terms' for the gauge and flavour symmetries. This is equivalent to specifying the value of the CS contact terms $\kappa \equiv \kappa^{\Phi} + K$, namely:

$$\kappa_{\mathbf{ab}} = \kappa_{\mathbf{ab}}^{\Phi} + K_{\mathbf{ab}}, \qquad \kappa_{\mathbf{a}R} = \kappa_{\mathbf{a}R}^{\Phi} + K_{\mathbf{a}R}, \qquad \kappa_{RR} = \kappa_{RR}^{\Phi} + K_{RR}, \qquad \kappa_{g} = \kappa_{g}^{\Phi} + K_{g},$$
(2.34)

where κ^{Φ} denotes the matter (and gaugino) contributions (2.32)–(2.33), and K denotes the 'bare CS levels' which appear in the classical Lagrangian. These are the same bare CS levels that appear in (2.11) and (2.13). Note that, while our choice of quantisation is conventional, the quantities κ truly define the UV theory. All the bare CS levels K are integer-quantised, as required by gauge invariance.

Let us emphasise that we denote by κ the CS contact terms as computed in the free UV theory, before turning on the gauge couplings. As the gauge theory flows to the strongly-coupled infrared, the CS contact terms κ for non-gauge symmetries become non-trivial observables, $\kappa(\mu)$, the parity-odd contributions to two-point functions of conserved currents [69]. These observables can be computed at the IR fixed point, in principle, by studying the S^3 partition function as a function of the background fields [7, 68].

Chern-Simons levels. In keeping with common convention, we shall denote by:

$$k \equiv \kappa = \kappa^{\Phi} + K, \tag{2.35}$$

the CS contact terms for the gauge groups in the UV, which we also call the (UV effective) Chern-Simons levels.⁷ Note that k, unlike K, can be half-integers. For each $U(N_I)$ gauge group, we have the levels k and l defined as in (2.3), with:

$$k_I = \kappa_I^{\Phi} + K_I, \qquad l_I = \kappa_{\mathrm{U}(1),I}^{\Phi} + L_I.$$
 (2.36)

We can also have mixed CS levels between different $U(N_I)$ factors, with:

$$k_{IJ} = \kappa_{IJ}^{\Phi} + K_{IJ}, \qquad I \neq J. \tag{2.37}$$

⁷In most of the supersymmetric literature, k is simply called 'the Chern-Simons level', and we will use this phrase when no confusion is possible. For our purposes, however, it is important to clearly distinguish between the effective CS levels in the UV (k) and the bare levels (K) that corresponds to terms in the classical Lagrangian. This is necessary in order to remove any ambiguity (including any sign ambiguity) in the computation of the twisted index, and of all supersymmetric partition function for that matter [8].

Decomposing the representations \mathfrak{R}_i (restricted to $U(N_I)$ as appropriate) into $SU(N_I)$ representations $\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_i$ together with U(1) charges $Q_{I,i}$, we have the one-loop contributions:

$$\kappa_{I}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} T(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{i}), \qquad \kappa_{\mathrm{U}(1),I}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \frac{1}{N_{I}^{2}} \left(\dim(\mathfrak{R}_{i}) Q_{I,i}^{2} - N_{I} T(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{i}) \right),
\kappa_{IJ}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \frac{\dim(\mathfrak{R}_{i})}{N_{I} N_{J}} Q_{I,i} Q_{J,i},$$
(2.38)

where the quadratic index $T(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_i)$ for $SU(N_I)$ is normalised so that T(fund) = 1, and $Q_I(\text{fund}) = 1$ for the fundamental representation of $U(N_I)$. Therefore $T(\text{adj}) = 2N_I$ and $Q_I(\text{adj}) = 0$ (hence $\delta \kappa_{U(1),I}^{\Phi} = 1$) for the adjoint representation of $U(N_I)$. For later purpose, let us also mention that T(det) = 0 and $Q_I(\text{det}) = N_I$ (hence $\delta \kappa_{U(1),I}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}$) for the 1-dimensional determinant representation.

2.3 Bethe ideal and companion matrix method

While the sum-over-Bethe-vacua formula (2.24) is elegant and simple-looking, to evaluate it explicitly seems to require rather complicated algebraic manipulations, wherein we would first solve the algebraic equations (2.20) in the r_G variables x, and then plug the solutions back into the summand appearing in (2.24). Of course, this is not actually doable except in the very simplest cases, such as for the example (2.30).

In turns out, however, that it is not necessary to explicitly find the solutions \hat{x} in order to compute the twisted index. Instead, one can use powerful computational algebraic geometry methods [19, 21], as we now review.

Companion matrix method. First, consider any ideal \mathcal{I} of a polynomial ring in n variables over a field \mathbb{K} , $\mathcal{I} \subset \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$. Concretely, it will be generated by a set of m polynomials $P_i(x)$,

$$\mathcal{I} = (P) = (P_1, \dots, P_m).$$
 (2.39)

We also define the associated quotient ring \mathcal{R} and the algebraic variety \mathcal{V} :

$$\mathcal{R} = \frac{\mathbb{K}[x_1, \cdots, x_n]}{\mathcal{T}}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{V} = \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{I}) \cong \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{R}.$$
 (2.40)

The variety \mathcal{V} is the set of solutions to the coupled equations:

$$P_i(x_1, \dots, x_n) = 0, \qquad i = 1, \dots, m.$$
 (2.41)

We assume that this variety is zero-dimensional — that is, it consists of discrete points $\hat{x} \in \mathbb{K}^n$. This is equivalent to \mathcal{R} being finite as an abelian group, so let us denote by

$$d_{\mathcal{R}} = |\mathcal{R}|, \tag{2.42}$$

the number of discrete solutions. Now, consider two polynomials, $Q_1, Q_2 \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$. We are interested in the quantity

$$Z(Q_1/Q_2) \equiv \sum_{\widehat{x} \in \mathcal{V}} \frac{Q_1(\widehat{x})}{Q_2(\widehat{x})}, \qquad (2.43)$$

⁸Given the weights $\rho_i = (\rho_i^{a_I})$ of the $U(N_I)$ representation \Re_i , we have $Q_{I,i} = \sum_{a=1}^{N_I} \rho_i^{a_I}$.

assuming that $Q_2 \notin \mathcal{I}$. This can be computed as follows. First, one needs to pick an ordering \prec for the monomials of the polynomial ring $\mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$. Then, any polynomial Q has a unique leading term, $\mathrm{LT}(Q)$, with respect to that ordering. We then choose a Gröbner basis for the ideal \mathcal{I} with respect to the ordering \prec , which consist of some m' elements:

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{I}) = \{g_1, \cdots, g_{m'}\}. \tag{2.44}$$

A Gröbner basis $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{I})$ is a generating set for \mathcal{I} such that the leading term of any $P \in \mathcal{I}$ is proportional to the leading term of some $g_i \in \mathcal{G}(\mathcal{I})$, namely $\frac{\mathrm{LT}(P)}{\mathrm{LT}(g_i)} \in \mathbb{K}$. This then allows one to reduce any polynomial $Q \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$ along \mathcal{I} ,

$$Q(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{m'} c_i g_i(x) + R(x), \qquad c_i \in \mathbb{K}, \qquad (2.45)$$

where R(x) is called the remainder. Let $[Q] \in \mathcal{R}$ denote the equivalence class of any polynomial $Q \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$ in the quotient ring $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]/\mathcal{I}$. Given a Gröbner basis, the remainder R in (2.45) is unique, and thus provides a useful representative of [Q] = [R]. Given two polynomials Q_1, Q_2 , we have that $[Q_1] = [Q_2]$ if and only if $R_1 = R_2$, and in particular [Q] = 0 ($Q \in \mathcal{I}$) if and only if R = 0.

The determination of Gröbner bases can be done on a computer using standard algorithms, implemented most easily using Singular [22]. Given a Gröbner basis (2.44), we also obtain a canonical \mathbb{K} -basis for the quotient ring \mathcal{R} :

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{R}) = \{ \mathfrak{e}_1, \cdots, \mathfrak{e}_{d_{\mathcal{R}}} \}. \tag{2.46}$$

Then, to any polynomial $Q \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$, we can associate a $d_{\mathcal{R}} \times d_{\mathcal{R}}$ companion matrix \mathfrak{M}_Q valued in \mathbb{K} , which is defined by:

$$[Q][\mathfrak{e}_s] = \sum_{r=1}^{d_{\mathcal{R}}} (\mathfrak{M}_Q)_{sr} [\mathfrak{e}_r]. \tag{2.47}$$

One can show that the companion matrix respects the ring structure, with the product given by matrix multiplication:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{Q_1+Q_2} = \mathfrak{M}_{Q_1} + \mathfrak{M}_{Q_2}, \qquad \mathfrak{M}_{Q_1Q_2} = \mathfrak{M}_{Q_1} \mathfrak{M}_{Q_2}.$$
 (2.48)

We can further generalise this construction to define the companion matrix of rational functions $\frac{Q_1}{Q_2} \in \mathbb{K}(x_1, \dots, x_n)$ using the matrix inverse of the denominator:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{Q_1/Q_2} = \mathfrak{M}_{Q_1} \left(\mathfrak{M}_{Q_2} \right)^{-1}. \tag{2.49}$$

Finally, the key result is that the quantity (2.43) is simply given by the trace of the corresponding companion matrix:

$$Z(Q_1/Q_2) = \text{Tr}\left(\mathfrak{M}_{Q_1/Q_2}\right). \tag{2.50}$$

In fact, the eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_{d_{\mathcal{R}}} \in \mathbb{K}$ of the companion matrix \mathfrak{M}_Q are exactly equal to Q evaluated on the variety \mathcal{V} [21], namely $\lambda_s = Q(\widehat{x}_s)$ for some ordering of the solutions \widehat{x}_s , $s = 1, \dots, d_{\mathcal{R}}$, to (2.41).

Application to abelian gauge theories. The companion matrix method is directly applicable to abelian gauge theories, namely for $N_I = 1$, $\forall I$. The assumption that the variety \mathcal{V} is zero-dimensional is essentially an assumption that we can lift any non-compact branch of the 3d moduli space of vacua by generic mass deformations — this is generally possible only if the theory has enough flavour currents. In that case, the Bethe vacua are determined entirely by the conditions:

$$\Pi_I(x) \equiv \frac{p_{I,1}(x)}{p_{I,2}(x)} = 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad P_I(x) \equiv p_{I,1}(x) - p_{I,2}(x) = 0, \quad I = 1, \dots, n_G.$$
(2.51)

The polynomials $P_I \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_{n_G}]$ generate the Bethe ideal, \mathcal{I}_{BE} . Here, \mathbb{K} is taken to be

$$\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}(y_1, \cdots, y_{r_F}), \qquad (2.52)$$

the field of fractions in the flavor fugacities. We can then compute the twisted index (2.24) in terms of companion matrices, as:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}(y)_{\mathfrak{n}} = \operatorname{Tr}\left((\mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{H}})^{g-1} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r_F} (\mathfrak{M}_{\Pi_{\alpha}})^{\mathfrak{n}_{\alpha}}\right). \tag{2.53}$$

Simple abelian example. Let us illustrate the procedure with the example (2.27)–(2.28) with K=1, $n_f=2$ and r=0. In that case, the Gröbner basis is simply $\{g_1\}=\{x^2y+x(qy-y^2-1)+y\}$ and the \mathbb{K} -basis is $\{\mathfrak{e}_1,\mathfrak{e}_2\}=\{x,1\}$. Then, the companion matrix for the handle-gluing operator is

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{H}} = \begin{pmatrix} -q^2 - y^2 - y^{-2} + 2q(y + y^{-1}) & q - y - y^{-1} \\ -q + y + y^{-1} & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.54}$$

which reproduces (2.31). We can similarly compute the companion matrix for the $SU(2) \times U(1)_T$ flavour flux operators:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\Pi_{(y)}} = q^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} qy^{-2} + y^{-1} - y^{-3} & 1 - y^{-2} \\ -1 + y^{-2} & q + y^{-1} - y \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathfrak{M}_{\Pi_{(\tau)}} = \begin{pmatrix} -q + y + y^{-1} & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (2.55)$$

Bethe ideal for the non-abelian theory. Given the gauge group $G = \prod_{I=1}^{n_G} U(N_I)$, the Bethe vacua are given by (2.21). Let us write the Bethe equations in terms of polynomials in the variables $x = (x_{a_I})$ over the field (2.52), as in the abelian case:

$$\Pi_{a_I}(x) \equiv \frac{p_{a_I,1}(x)}{p_{a_I,2}(x)} = 1, \qquad P_{a_I}(x) \equiv p_{a_I,1}(x) - p_{a_I,2}(x) = 0.$$
(2.56)

Due to gauge invariance, the Bethe equations and all the flavor flux and handle gluing operators, are symmetric under S_{N_I} , the permutation of the variables x_{a_I} for each I. Hence we can restrict our attention to Weyl-symmetric polynomials. In particular, we have

$$P_{a_I} \in \mathbb{K}[x]^{W_G} \,. \tag{2.57}$$

In order to discard the spurious solutions to the Bethe equations $P_{a_I}(x) = 0$, which correspond to $\hat{x}_{a_I} = \hat{x}_{b_I}$ for $a_I \neq b_I$ at fixed I, we use a symmetrisation trick [19]. Let us define the polynomials:

$$\widehat{P}_{a_I b_I}(x) \equiv \frac{P_{a_I} - P_{b_I}}{x_{a_I} - x_{b_I}}, \qquad a_I > b_I,$$
(2.58)

for $I = 1, \dots, n_G$. The Bethe ideal in the x_{a_I} variables is given by the ideal generated by the polynomials P and \hat{P} :

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(x)} = (P, \widehat{P}) \subset \mathbb{K}[x]^{W_G}. \tag{2.59}$$

To obtain the Bethe vacua, we should gather the solutions into Weyl orbits, which have size $|W_G| = \prod_{I=1}^{n_G} N_I!$. To avoid this large redundancy, it is convenient to introduce new variables s_{I,I_a} defined as the symmetric polynomials in x_{a_I} (at fixed I). More precisely, let us introduce the polynomials

$$\hat{S}_{a_I}(x,s) \equiv S_{I,a_I}(x) - s_{I,a_I},$$
(2.60)

which are linear in s_{a_I} . Here, at fixed I, $S_{I,a_I}(x) = S_a(x)$ is the n-th elementary symmetric polynomial in N variables x_b ($b = 1, \dots, N = N_I$):

$$S_a(x_1, \dots, x_N) = \sum_{1 \le b_1 < \dots < b_a \le N} x_{b_1} \cdots x_{b_a}.$$
 (2.61)

Let us also introduce some auxiliary variables w_I and define:

$$\widehat{W}_I \equiv w_I s_{I,N_I} - 1, \qquad (2.62)$$

so that imposing $\widehat{W}_I = 0$ implies $s_{I,N_I} = \prod_{a_I=1}^{N_I} x_{a_I} \neq 0$, thus removing any spurious solutions on which some x_{a_I} variables would vanish (such solutions would be located at infinity on the 3d Coulomb branch). Starting with the extended ideal:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(x,w,s)} = (P,\widehat{P},\widehat{S},\widehat{W}) \subset \mathbb{K}[x,s,w], \qquad (2.63)$$

we can reduce it to an ideal in $\mathbb{K}[s]$, eliminating x_{I_a} (and w_I) from the description by an appropriate choice of monomial ordering:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(s)} = \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(x,w,s)}\big|_{\mathrm{reduce}}.$$
(2.64)

We also write any rational operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$ on the 2d Coulomb branch in terms of the s_{a_I} variables:

$$\mathcal{O}(x) \equiv \frac{Q_1(x)}{Q_2(x)}, \quad Q_1, Q_2 \in \mathbb{K}[x] \quad \longrightarrow \quad \mathcal{O}(s) \equiv \frac{\widetilde{Q}_1(s)}{\widetilde{Q}_2(s)}, \quad \widetilde{Q}_1, \widetilde{Q}_2 \in \mathbb{K}[s].$$
 (2.65)

Let us denote the quotient ring and the variety relative to the Bethe ideal by:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(s)} = \mathbb{K}[s] / \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(s)}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{BE}} \cong \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(s)}.$$
 (2.66)

We assume that the 'Bethe variety' \mathcal{V}_{BE} is zero-dimensional, so that the number of points in $\mathcal{V}_{BE} \subset \mathbb{K}^{r_G}$ is equal to the number of Bethe vacua:

$$|\mathcal{V}_{\text{BE}}| = d_{\mathcal{R}_{\text{BE}}} = |\mathcal{S}_{\text{BE}}|. \tag{2.67}$$

Finally, we choose a Gröbner basis $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{BE}}^{(s)})$, so that we can define the companion matrix $\mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{O}}$ of any rational operator $\mathcal{O}(s)$. We can then compute the twisted index exactly as in (2.53). More generally, the expectation value of any rational operator \mathcal{O} on Σ_q is given by:

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\Sigma_g \times S^1} = \text{Tr} \Big((\mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{H}})^{g-1} \mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{O}} \Big).$$
 (2.68)

It is interesting to note that not every 3d A-model observable is rational. In particular, the Seifert fibering operators defined in [9, 10] are not rational in x_{a_I} — instead, they are locally holomorphic functions in the variables $u_{a_I} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(x_{a_I})$. It would be very interesting, but likely quite challenging, to extend the methods of this paper to include fibering operators, perhaps using ideas from [74].

3 Twisted indices for unitary SQCD

The formalism of section 2 allows us to compute the twisted index of any unitary gauge theory, in principle. In the rest of this paper, we will focus on unitary $SQCD[N_c, k, l, n_f, n_a]$, a 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric gauge theory with a single unitary gauge group $U(N_c)$ coupled to n_f fundamental and n_a antifundamental chiral multiplets:

$$U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}, (n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}),$$
 (3.1)

with $k + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) \in \mathbb{Z}$. Interestingly, these theories admit infrared-dual descriptions akin to Seiberg dualities [75]. The case l = 0 is well understood [28–30, 76], and the general case with $l \neq 0$ has been addressed very recently in the literature [48, 64]. Here we compute the twisted index of these theories, for any values of the parameters. In particular, we compute the Witten index for SQCD with $l \neq 0$ and $n_f = n_a$, which appears to be a new result. We also briefly discuss how Witten indices for different numbers of flavours are related. Other aspects of the vacuum structure of these theories (and the computation of the Witten index for $n_f \neq n_a$ and $l \neq 0$) will be addressed in future work [77].

3.1 Defining 3d SQCD: flavour symmetry and Chern-Simons contact terms

To fully define the 'electric' theory (3.1), we need to specify all the Chern-Simons levels, including the Chern-Simons contact terms for the flavour symmetry, as reviewed in section 2.2. The theory has a flavour symmetry:¹⁰

$$G_F = SU(n_f) \times SU(n_a) \times U(1)_A \times U(1)_T, \qquad (3.2)$$

⁹In practice, we face limitations are due to computing power: to find Gröbner basis for large and complicated ideals can be prohibitive on a laptop computer (especially for $\mathbb{C}(y)$ -valued polynomials with many distinct y_{α} 's).

¹⁰Perhaps up to a discrete quotient. Here we make no claim about the exact global form of the flavour symmetry group, which could depend in subtle ways on the CS levels — see e.g. [78, 79] for related discussions. We thank M. Bullimore for pointing this out.

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c)$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$U(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$
Q_i			1	1	0	r
\tilde{Q}^j		1		1	0	r

Table 1. Charge assignments for 3d SQCD[N_c, k, l, n_f, n_a].

and a U(1)_R symmetry under which all (anti)fundamental chiral multiplets are assigned R-charge r, assuming that $n_a n_f > 0$. We will assume that $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ in this paper, so that the theory can be coupled to $\Sigma_g \times S^1$ with the A-twist.¹¹ If either n_f or n_a vanishes, we loose the axial symmetry U(1)_A which rotates both fundamental and antifundamental chiral multiplets with the same phase.

Denoting by Q_i , $i=1,\dots,n_f$, and \widetilde{Q}^j , $j=1,\dots,n_a$, the fundamental and antifundamental chiral multiplets, we have the charge assignment shown in table 1. No fundamental field is charged under the topological symmetry, $\mathrm{U}(1)_T$. The charged objects are the (bare) monopole operators of minimal magnetic flux, \mathfrak{T}^\pm , which carry topological charge ± 1 . The monopole operators carry an electric charge:¹²

$$Q_0[\mathfrak{T}^{\pm}] = \pm (k + lN_c) - \frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a), \qquad (3.3)$$

under the $U(1) \subset U(N_c)$, and they also transform in the representation

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}[\mathfrak{T}^{\pm}] = \operatorname{Sym}^{\pm k - \frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a)}(\square) \tag{3.4}$$

of $SU(N_c)$ [80, 81]. The 3d classical Coulomb branch is then lifted by the (effective) CS interactions, in general. We have a 3d quantum Coulomb branch only when \mathfrak{T}^+ and/or \mathfrak{T}^- are gauge-invariant, in which case their VEVs span the Coulomb branch.

To fully specify the gauge theory, we not only need to specify the $U(N_c)$ CS levels k and l, but also any potential mixed CS level between $U(1) \subset U(N_c)$ and the abelian flavour symmetries. Let us first note that we have the one-loop contributions:

$$\kappa_{GG}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a), \qquad \kappa_{GA}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a), \qquad \kappa_{GR}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a)(r - 1), \quad (3.5)$$

and $\kappa_{GT}^{\Phi} = 0$, to the gauge (GG) and gauge-flavour (GF) CS contact terms (with $\kappa_{I}^{\Phi} = \kappa_{GG}$, in the conventions of section 2.2). We then have:

$$K = k + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a), \qquad L = l,$$
 (3.6)

for the bare CS levels for the gauge symmetry. We also choose the bare levels:

$$K_{GA} = \begin{cases} \Theta(-k)(n_f - n_a) & \text{if } |k| \ge \frac{1}{2}|n_f - n_a|, \\ \operatorname{sign}(n_f - n_a)(\frac{1}{2}|n_f - n_a| - k) & \text{if } |k| < \frac{1}{2}|n_f - n_a|, \end{cases}$$

$$K_{GR} = K_{GA}(r - 1),$$
(3.7)

The can choose any $r \in \mathbb{R}$ in the UV, and the choice $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ allows us to define the 3d A-model on curved space. Whenever the theory flows to a 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT in the IR, there also exists a dynamically determined superconformal R-charge, R_{SCFT} , which can be computed by F-maximisation [3, 68].

¹²More precisely, they transform into some Q-symmetric product of the fundamental representation of $\mathrm{U}(N_c)$.

with $\Theta(x)$ the Heavyside step function, ¹³ and:

$$K_{GT} = 1, (3.8)$$

which corresponds to a standard FI term. Finally, we take all the flavour bare CS levels to vanish:

$$K_{SU(n_f)} = K_{SU(n_g)} = K_{AA} = K_{TT} = K_{AT} = K_{RA} = K_{RT} = K_{RR} = K_g = 0.$$
 (3.9)

We then have $\kappa = \kappa^{\Phi}$ for the flavour symmetry contact terms in the UV, with:

$$\kappa_{SU(n_f)}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}N_c, \qquad \kappa_{SU(n_a)}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}N_c,
\kappa_{AA}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)N_c, \qquad \kappa_{TT}^{\Phi} = 0,
\kappa_{RA}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)N_c(r - 1), \qquad \kappa_{RT}^{\Phi} = 0,
\kappa_{RR}^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)N_c(r - 1)^2 + \frac{1}{2}N_c^2, \qquad \kappa_{AT}^{\Phi} = 0,
\kappa_g^{\Phi} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)N_c + N_c^2.$$
(3.10)

Note that the parameterisation of the R-symmetry through the arbitrary R-charge $r = R[Q_i] = R[\tilde{Q}^j]$ is somewhat redundant, since one can always mix $U(1)_R$ with the axial symmetry $U(1)_A$, as $R \to R + \Delta r Q_A$. By considering the minimal coupling to background gauge fields, one finds that a shift $r \to r + \Delta r$ leads to the following shifts of the bare CS levels:

$$K_{RA} \to K_{RA} + \Delta r K_{AA}$$
, $K_{RI} \to K_{RI} + \Delta r K_{AI} \ (I \neq A)$, (3.11)

and similarly for the CS contact terms themselves.

Bethe equations for SQCD. Let us introduce the flavour parameters:

$$y_i \ (i = 1, \dots, n_f), \quad \prod_{i=1}^{n_f} y_i = 1, \qquad \qquad \widetilde{y}_j \ (j = 1, \dots, n_a), \quad \prod_{j=1}^{n_a} \widetilde{y}_j = 1, \qquad (3.12)$$

for $SU(n_f) \times SU(n_a)$, as well as $y_A = e^{2\pi i \nu_A}$ for $U(1)_A$ and $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$ for $U(1)_T$. The Bethe equations (2.20) for $SQCD[N_c, k, l, n_f, n_a]$ can be written as:

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n_f} (y_i - x_a y_A) - (-1)^{l+k+\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)} q y_A^{K_{GA}} \prod_{j=1}^{n_a} (x_a - \widetilde{y}_j y_A) x_a^{k+\frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a)} \left(\prod_{b=1}^{N_c} x_b \right)^l = 0, \quad (3.13)$$

for $a = 1, \dots, N_c$. For l = 0, we have N_c decoupled equations, but in general we have a coupled system of N_c equations in N_c variables x_a . Then, the Gröbner basis techniques described in section 2.3 become particularly useful.

¹³Here defined as $\Theta(x) = 1$ if x > 0 and $\Theta(x) = 0$ if x < 0.

3.2 Unitary SQCD and its dual description

The simplest observable of unitary SQCD is the flavored Witten index,

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, n_{f}, n_{a}) \equiv Z_{T^{2} \times S^{1}}[SQCD[N_{c}, k, l, n_{f}, n_{a}]]. \tag{3.14}$$

For l = 0, we have [15]:

$$\mathbf{I}_W(N_c, k, 0, n_f, n_a) = \begin{pmatrix} N_c^D + N_c \\ N_c \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.15}$$

where we defined the 'dual rank':

$$N_c^D \equiv \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) + |k| - N_c & \text{if } |k| \ge |k_c|, \\ \max(n_f, n_a) - N_c & \text{if } |k| \le |k_c|, \end{cases}$$
(3.16)

with the 'chirality' parameter: 14

$$k_c \equiv \frac{n_f - n_a}{2} \,. \tag{3.17}$$

Unitary SQCD with l = 0 with gauge group $U(N_c)_k$ has an infrared-dual description in terms of a $U(N_c^D)_{-k}$ gauge group, with a particular matter content that depend on the parameters k, n_f and n_a . There are four distinct cases to consider [30]:

- (i) Aharony dual. For k = 0, $n_f = n_a \equiv N_f$, we have the $U(N_f N_c)_0$ dual description, known as the Aharony dual [76]. The dual description involves N_f^2 gauge-invariant chiral multiplets (the 'mesons' of the 'electric' SQCD description), as well as two additional singlets charged under the topological symmetry (the 'monopoles' of the electric description).
- (ii) Minimally chiral case. For $k \neq 0$ and $|k| > |k_c|$, we have a $U(N_c^D)_{-k}$ description with $n_f n_a$ mesons and no monopole singlets. We call these the 'minimally chiral' theories. In the non-chiral case, $n_f = n_a \equiv N_f$, we have a $U(N_f + |k| N_c)_{-k}$ dual gauge group, and this is known as the Giveon-Kutasov duality [29].
- (iii) Marginally chiral case. For $k \neq 0$ and $|k| = |k_c|$, we have a $U(N_c^D)_{-k}$ description with $n_f n_a$ mesons and one monopole singlet. We call these the 'marginally chiral' theories.
- (iv) Maximally chiral case. For $|k| < |k_c|$, we have a $U(n_f N_c)_{-k}$ or $U(n_a N_c)_{-k}$ description if $n_f > n_a$ or $n_a > n_f$, respectively, with $n_f n_a$ mesons and no monopole singlets. We call these the 'maximally chiral' theories.

This is because the 4d analogue of that theory would be chiral in the usual sense. (One similarly talks about the 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ chiral multiplet, it being the dimensional reduction of the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ chiral multiplet.)

Unitary SQCD for general l. In the general case with arbitrary $l \in \mathbb{Z}$, the computation of the Witten index becomes more involved, as we will discuss momentarily. The theory also has a very interesting 'magnetic' dual description with a product unitary gauge group [48, 64]:

$$G^D = U(N_c^D) \times U(1), \qquad (3.18)$$

with N_c^D defined in (3.16), if $|k| \ge |k_c|$ (if $|k| < |k_c|$, the dual gauge group remains $\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$). There are again four cases to consider, as for l=0. We will study these dualities in more details in section 5. Using the companion matrix method, we verified that the twisted indices, $Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}$, match exactly across all these dualities.¹⁵ Here, let us only summarise their key features:

(i) Amariti-Rota dual. For k = 0, $n_f = n_a \equiv N_f$, we have a dual gauge theory:

$$U(N_f - N_c)_{0,0} \times U(1)_l, \qquad (3.19)$$

which was first derived in [64]. The line connecting the gauge factors denotes a (vanishing) mixed CS level, $k_{12} = 0$. Importantly, the theory also has matter fields charged under both gauge factors. We will discuss this duality in more detail in section 5.3.

(ii) Minimally chiral case. For $k \neq 0$ and $|k| > |k_c|$, we have a dual gauge theory:

$$U(|k| + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c)_{-k, -k + \operatorname{sign}(k)N_c} \times U(1)_{l + \operatorname{sign}(k)}, \tag{3.20}$$

and there is no matter charged under the $U(1)_{l\pm 1}$ factor. It only couples to the $U(N_c^D)$ sector through the mixed CS level $k_{12} = \text{sign}(k) = \pm 1$.

(iii) Marginally chiral. For $k \neq 0$ and $|k| = |k_c|$, we have a dual description:

$$U(\max(n_f, n_a) - N_c)_{-k, -k + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sign}(k)N_c} \times U(1)_{l + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sign}(k)},$$

$$(3.21)$$

and there is some matter charged under both gauge groups.

(iv) Maximally chiral case. For $|k| < |k_c|$, we have a dual gauge theory:

$$U(\max(n_f, n_a) - N_c)_{-k_a - k + lN_c^D}, (3.22)$$

similarly to the l = 0 case.

When l=0, these dualities can be reduced to the previous unitary dualities. The knowledge of the dual description immediately yields some non-trivial information. For instance, whenever $N_c^D < 0$ the Witten index vanishes and therefore supersymmetry could be broken. The limiting cases of the dualities for which $N_c^D = 0$ also give us 's-confining' phases (an IR description in terms of chiral multiplets only) if l=0 or if $|k|<|k_c|$.

¹⁵At least in many examples, when running the algorithm on a laptop computer.

3.3 Twisted index for $U(N_c)_{0,lN_c}$, N_f SQCD

Consider the $U(N_c)_{0,lN_c}$ gauge theory with N_f pairs of fundamental and antifundamental matter. We find that the Witten index of this theory is given by:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, 0, l, N_{f}, N_{f}) = \frac{N_{f} + |l| N_{c}}{N_{f}} \binom{N_{f}}{N_{c}}.$$
(3.23)

For l=0, this is a well-known result which follows from the fact that the vacua are in one-to-one correspondence with the sets of N_c distinct roots of a degree- N_f polynomial [15]. For $l \neq 0$, we proceed as follows. By considering certain limits in the space of flavor fugacities, as done in [82] in a similar context, one can show that the number of Bethe vacua satisfies the recursion relation:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, 0, l, N_{f}, N_{f}) = \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, 0, l, N_{f} - 1, N_{f} - 1) + \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c} - 1, 0, l, N_{f} - 1, N_{f} - 1).$$
(3.24)

Furthermore, one can show that:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(1,0,l,N_{f},N_{f}) = N_{f} + |l|, \qquad \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{f},0,l,N_{f},N_{f}) = 1 + |l|. \tag{3.25}$$

The first equality follows from the fact that, for $N_c = 1$, we have an abelian gauge theory $\mathrm{U}(1)_l$ with N_f pairs of electrons of charge ± 1 , whose index was computed in [17]. The second equality follows from the fact that, for $N_c = N_f$, the Amariti-Rota dual (3.19) is a $\mathrm{U}(1)_l$ theory with one flavour pair. With these initial conditions, one can solve the recursion relation (3.24) to obtain (3.23).

Twisted indices: a few examples. Let us now consider a few simple examples of twisted indices, computed using the companion matrix method. First, consider the $U(2)_0$ theory (l=0) with $N_f=2$ flavours and r=0. There is a single Bethe vacuum and the index is given by:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}^{\mathrm{U}(2)_0, N_f = 2}(y_A, \chi, \widetilde{\chi}) = \left(1 - \chi \widetilde{\chi} y_A^2 + (\chi^2 + \widetilde{\chi}^2 - 2) y_A^4 - \chi \widetilde{\chi} y_A^6 + y_A^8\right)^{g-1} \equiv Z_{4M} . \quad (3.26)$$

This theory is dual to four free chiral multiplets, the mesons $M_i{}^j = Q_i \widetilde{Q}^j$, and this is apparent in the index. Here we introduced the characters $\chi = y_1 + y_2$ and $\widetilde{\chi} = \widetilde{y}_1 + \widetilde{y}_2$ for the SU(2) × SU(2) flavour symmetry.

As another example, let us consider the abelian theory $U(1)_l$ with CS level l and $N_f = 1$ flavour. This theory has |l| + 1 Bethe vacua. On the sphere (g = 0), we have:

$$Z_{S^2 \times S^1}^{\mathrm{U}(1)_l, N_f = 1}(y_A, q) = \frac{1}{1 - y_A^2}, \tag{3.27}$$

for any l. At genus g = 1, we have the Witten index, $Z_{T^3} = |l| + 1$. At genus g = 2, we find:

$$Z_{\Sigma_2 \times S^1}^{\mathrm{U}(1)_l, N_f = 1}(y_A, q) = \begin{cases} 1 - 2l - l^2 - (l-1)^2 y_A^2 - \delta_{l, -1} \left(q + q^{-1} \right) & \text{if } l < 0\\ (1+l)^2 + (l^2 - 2l - 1) y_A^2 + \delta_{l, 1} \left(q + q^{-1} \right) y_A^2 & \text{if } l \ge 0 \end{cases},$$
(3.28)

and similar formulas can be worked out for any g > 2. In particular, we observe that the index terminates (thus there is a finite number of states on any Σ_g with g > 0),

and that states charged under the topological symmetry (weighted by q) only appear for $0 < |l| \le g - 1$.

Next, consider $U(2)_{0,2l}$ with $N_f = 2$ and r = 0, a theory with |l| + 1 Bethe vacua. By explicit computation, one can check that the index factorises as:

$$Z_{\Sigma_q \times S^1}^{\mathrm{U}(2)_{0,2l}, N_f = 2}(y_A, \chi, \widetilde{\chi}) = (1 - y_A^4)^{1-g} Z_{4M} Z_{\Sigma_q \times S^1}^{\mathrm{U}(1)_l, N_f = 1}(y_A^2, q), \qquad (3.29)$$

with Z_{4M} as in (3.26). This can be precisely explained in terms of the Amariti-Rota duality, to be discussed in detail in section 5.3. In particular, the prefactor $(1-y_A^4)^{1-g}$ should be written as $(1-y_A^{-4})^{1-g} \times y_A^{-4(g-1)} \times (-1)^{g-1}$, corresponding to a chiral multiplet of U(1)_A charge -4 and to some flavour CS levels $K_{RA} = -4$ and $K_{RR} = 1$.

3.4 The Witten index for $n_f = n_a$ and $k \neq 0$

Consider the theory with $n_f = n_a \equiv N_f$ flavours and $k \neq 0$. Consider first the case $N_f = 0$, which is the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric Chern-Simons theory $U(N_c)_{k,\,k+lN_c}$. We claim that the Witten index of this theory is given by:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, 0, 0) = \frac{|k + lN_{c}|}{|k|} \binom{|k|}{N_{c}},$$
(3.30)

for $|k| \ge N_c$, with the understanding that the index vanishes for $k < N_c$ (supersymmetry is broken in that case). This can be understood from the fact that:

$$U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c} \cong \frac{SU(N_c)_k \times U(1)_{N_c(k+lN_c)}}{\mathbb{Z}_{N_c}}.$$
(3.31)

Setting $x_a = \tilde{x}_a x_0$ with the constraint $\prod_{a=1}^{N_c} \tilde{x}_a = 1$, the Bethe equations for the pure 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ CS theory read:

$$\widetilde{x}_a^k = (-1)^{k+l} q^{-1} x_0^{-(k+lN_c)}, \qquad a = 1, \dots, N_c,$$
(3.32)

which implies that x_0 is proportional to a $N_c(k + lN_c)$ -th root of unity. Plugging back this solution into (3.32), we have the Bethe equations for the $SU(N_c)_k$ supersymmetric CS theory. Taking into account the redundancy in our parameterisation $x_a = \tilde{x}_a x_0$ and the overall \mathbb{Z}_{N_c} quotient in (3.31), one obtains (3.30) written as:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, 0, 0) = \frac{|k + lN_{c}|}{N_{c}} \times \mathbf{I}_{W}[SU(N_{c})_{k}], \qquad \mathbf{I}_{W}[SU(N_{c})_{k}] = \begin{pmatrix} |k| - 1\\ N_{c} - 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.33)$$

using the $SU(N_c)_k$ Witten index computed in [16, 83].

For any $N_f > 0$, we have the recursion relation:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, N_{f}, N_{f}) = \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, N_{f} - 1, N_{f} - 1) + \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c} - 1, k, l, N_{f} - 1, N_{f} - 1), \quad (3.34)$$

similarly to (3.24). Thus, given the result (3.30), we can compute the Witten index recursively. For instance, one easily finds:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, N_{f}, N_{f}) = \frac{N_{f} + k + lN_{c}}{N_{f} + k} \binom{N_{f} + k}{N_{c}} \quad \text{if } k > 0 \text{ and } l \ge 0,$$
 (3.35)

$k \backslash l$	-10	-9	-8	-7	-6	-5	-4	-3	-2	-1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
0	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	6	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1	23	21	19	17	15	13	11	9	7	6	6	6	7	9	11	13	15	17	19	21	23
2	30	27	24	21	18	15	12	9	6	6	6	9	12	15	18	21	24	27	30	33	36
3	36	32	28	24	20	16	12	8	6	6	10	14	18	22	26	30	34	38	42	46	50
4	41	36	31	26	21	16	11	6	6	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50	55	60	65
5	45	39	33	27	21	15	9	6	10	15	21	27	33	39	45	51	57	63	69	75	81
6	48	41	34	27	20	13	6	10	14	21	28	35	42	49	56	63	70	77	84	91	98
7	50	42	34	26	18	10	10	14	20	28	36	44	52	60	68	76	84	92	100	108	116
8	51	42	33	24	15	10	14	18	27	36	45	54	63	72	81	90	99	108	117	126	135
9	51	41	31	21	15	14	18	25	35	45	55	65	75	85	95	105	115	125	135	145	155
10	50	39	28	21	14	18	22	33	44	55	66	77	88	99	110	121	132	143	154	165	176

Table 2. Witten index for $U(2)_{k,k+2l}$ with $n_f = 4$ fundamentals, for some values of k, l. The values with k < 0 can be obtained by parity (that is, the index for some (k, l) is the same as the index for (-k, -l)). The cases with the 'geometric value' $\mathbf{I}_W = 6$ are given in bold.

where we also assumed that $N_c \leq N_f + k$. For general values of k and l, the recursive definition (3.34) (with the boundary condition (3.30)) gives us the explicit formula:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, N_{f}, N_{f}) = \sum_{j=0}^{N_{f}} \frac{|k + l(N_{c} - j)|}{|k|} {N_{f} \choose j} {|k| \choose N_{c} - j}.$$
 (3.36)

We checked numerically, in a large number of examples, that the index so obtained matches the number of Bethe vacua computed by Gröbner basis methods.

3.5 Twisted index for chiral theories

Finally, let us briefly discuss the case of chiral theories. For any SQCD theory with $n_f n_a > 0$, we have a recursion relation:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, n_{f}, n_{a}) = \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, n_{f} - 1, n_{a} - 1) + \mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c} - 1, k, l, n_{f} - 1, n_{a} - 1).$$
(3.37)

Assuming that $n_f > n_a$ without loss of generality, the question is then to find the Witten index for $n_a = 0$,

$$\mathbf{I}_W(N_c, k, l, n_f, 0)$$
. (3.38)

The computation of the index (3.38) for general k and l is part of a rather rich story, which will be addressed more thoroughly in future work [77]. Here, let us just mention that we can easily compute it using Gröbner basis methods, at least for small enough values of the parameters N_c , n_f and k, l. Some examples are displayed in tables 2 and 3, where we computed the index for $U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ with n_f fundamentals for $(N_c, n_f) = (2, 4)$ and (2, 5). Let us comment on the fact that, for some values of the parameter, this index takes the

$k \backslash l$	-10	-9	-8	-7	-6	-5	-4	-3	-2	-1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
$\frac{1}{2}$	27	25	23	21	19	17	15	13	11	10	10	10	11	12	13	14	15	17	19	21	23
$\frac{3}{2}$	34	31	28	25	22	19	16	13	10	10	10	10	12	15	18	21	24	27	30	33	36
$\frac{5}{2}$	40	36	32	28	24	20	16	12	10	10	10	14	18	22	26	30	34	38	42	46	50
$\frac{7}{2}$	45	40	35	30	25	20	15	10	10	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50	55	60	65
$\frac{9}{2}$	49	43	37	31	25	19	13	10	10	15	21	27	33	39	45	51	57	63	69	75	81
$\frac{11}{2}$	52	45	38	31	24	17	10	10	15	21	28	35	42	49	56	63	70	77	84	91	98
$\frac{13}{2}$	54	46	38	30	22	14	10	15	20	28	36	44	52	60	68	76	84	92	100	108	116
$\frac{15}{2}$	55	46	37	28	19	10	15	20	27	36	45	54	63	72	81	90	99	108	117	126	135
$\frac{17}{2}$	55	45	35	25	15	15	20	25	35	45	55	65	75	85	95	105	115	125	135	145	155
$\frac{19}{2}$	54	43	32	21	15	20	25	33	44	55	66	77	88	99	110	121	132	143	154	165	176
$\frac{21}{2}$	52	40	28	21	20	25	30	42	54	66	78	90	102	114	126	138	150	162	174	186	198

Table 3. Witten index for $U(2)_{k,k+2l}$ with $n_f = 5$ fundamentals, for some values of k, l. The cases with the 'geometric value' $\mathbf{I}_W = 10$ are given in bold.

'geometric value' which saturates the bound:

$$\mathbf{I}_{W}(N_{c}, k, l, n_{f}, 0) \geq \mathbf{I}_{W}^{\text{Higgs}} = \chi(\operatorname{Gr}(N_{c}, n_{f})) = \begin{pmatrix} n_{f} \\ N_{c} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.39)

This lowest value of the index, $\mathbf{I}_{W}^{\text{Higgs}}$, is the contribution from the Higgs branch of the gauge theory in a phase with vanishing masses and a positive FI parameter. That Higgs branch is the Grassmannian $\text{Gr}(N_c, n_f)$, and the Witten index of this geometric phase is given by its Euler characteristic. For general values of k, l, there are also a number of additional contributions to the index from topological and mixed topological-geometric vacua, similarly to the abelian cases considered in [17].

More examples of twisted indices: Grassmannian theories. Let us consider the genus-0 index for the Gr(2,4) 'Grassmannian theories', defined as the $U(2)_{k,k+2l}$, $n_f = 4$ theories with CS levels such that $\mathbf{I}_W = 6$. There are 15 such theories. Setting the SU(4) flavour fugacities to $y_i = 1$ for simplicity, the $S^2 \times S^1$ twisted index of these theories is given by:

$$Z_{S^2 \times S^1} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } (k,l) \in \{(0,-1), (0,0), (0,1), (1,-1), (1,0), (1,1), (5,-4)\}, \\ 1 & \text{if } (k,l) \in \{(2,-1), (2,0), (3,-2), (3,-1), (4,-2), (5,-3)\}, \\ \frac{1}{1-q^2} & \text{if } (k,l) \in \{(2,-2), (4,-3)\}. \end{cases}$$
(3.40)

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$	$\mathrm{SU}(N_f)$	$\mathrm{SU}(N_f)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$
q_j		1		-1	0	1-r
\widetilde{q}^i			1	-1	0	1-r
M^{j}_{i}	1			2	0	2r
\mathfrak{T}^+	1	1	1	$-N_f$	1	r_T
\mathfrak{T}^-	1	1	1	$-N_f$	-1	r_T

Table 4. Field content of the Aharony dual theory, with $N_c^D = N_f - N_c$ and r_T given in (4.2).

We can similarly compute the higher-genus index. For instance, for this Gr(2,4) theory with (k,l)=(2,-1) (and $y_i=1$), we find:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}^{\mathrm{U}(2)_{2,0}, n_f = 4} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } g = 0 \,, \\ 6 & \text{for } g = 1 \,, \\ 24q - 30q^2 + 2q^3 & \text{for } g = 2 \,, \\ 288q^2 - 1256q^3 + 1188q^4 - 216q^5 + 4q^6 & \text{for } g = 3 \,, \\ 1920q^3 - 672q^4 + 31896q^5 - 28944q^6 + 5832q^7 + 24q^8 - 40q^9 & \text{for } g = 4 \,, \\ 16896q^4 + 428032q^5 - 157280q^6 - 1098432q^7 + 975760q^8 & \\ -243968q^9 + 10464q^{10} + 1984q^{11} - 112q^{12} & \text{for } g = 5 \,, \end{cases}$$

for the first few values of g. It would be very interesting to understand these and many similar results for the twisted index from an explicit quantisation of the theory on Σ_g with the A-twist, similarly to [84, 85].

4 Infrared dualities for $U(N_c)_k$ SQCD, revisited

In this section and the next, we revisit and clarify some aspects of the infrared dualities for $3d \mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric SQCD. We give a complete definition of the 'magnetic' dual theory in all cases, including various Chern-Simons contact terms for the flavour symmetry, in the gauge-invariant conventions of sections 2.2 and 3.1.

4.1 Aharony duality $(k = l = 0, n_f = n_a)$

If we set k = l = 0 and $n_f = n_a \equiv N_f$, we have the famous Aharony duality [28]:

$$U(N_c)_0, N_f(\Box \oplus \overline{\Box}) \longleftrightarrow U(N_f - N_c)_0, N_f(\Box \oplus \overline{\Box}), (M_i{}^j, \mathfrak{T}_+, \mathfrak{T}_-).$$
 (4.1)

This can be viewed as the most fundamental infrared duality for $U(N_c)$ SQCD, in the sense that all the other dualities summarised in section 3.2 can be derived from Aharony duality using appropriate limits [30, 64]. The matter content and the charges of the Aharony dual theory are shown in table 4. We have dual flavours q_j and \tilde{q}^i in the fundamental and antifundamental of $U(N_f - N_c)$, respectively. The gauge singlets M_i^j and \mathfrak{T}^{\pm} are

identified with the gauge-invariant 'mesons' $M_i^j = Q_i \tilde{Q}^j$ and with the monopole operators, respectively, in the electric description. The monopoles have R-charge:

$$r_T = -N_f(r-1) - N_c + 1. (4.2)$$

The gauge singlets are coupled to the gauge sector through the superpotential $W = \tilde{q}^i M_i{}^j q_j + \mathfrak{T}^+ t_+ + \mathfrak{T}^- t_-$, where t_{\pm} are the gauge-invariant monopole operators of the dual theory.

It is clear that we have $K = \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)$ and L = 0 for the $U(N_c^D)$ bare CS levels. Moreover, given our conventions for the electric theory, the magnetic theory must have non-vanishing bare CS levels for the flavour symmetry. We have

$$K_{SU(N_f)}^{(Ah)} = N_f - N_c, \qquad \widetilde{K}_{SU(N_f)}^{(Ah)} = N_f - N_c,$$
 (4.3)

for the $SU(N_f) \times SU(N_f)$ flavour symmetry and

$$K_{TT}^{(\mathrm{Ah})} = 1,$$

$$K_{AA}^{(\mathrm{Ah})} = 4N_f^2 - 2N_c N_f,$$

$$K_{AR}^{(\mathrm{Ah})} = 2N_f^2 + \left(4N_f^2 - 2N_c N_f\right)(r-1),$$

$$K_{RR}^{(\mathrm{Ah})} = N_c^2 + N_f^2 + 4N_f^2(r-1) + \left(4N_f^2 - 2N_c N_f\right)(r-1)^2,$$

$$K_g^{(\mathrm{Ah})} = 2N_f(N_f - N_c) + 2.$$

$$(4.4)$$

for the abelian flavour symmetry (as well as for the gravitational CS contact term) [10]. All other flavour and gauge-flavour levels vanish except for

$$K_{GT}^{(Ah)} = -1,$$
 (4.5)

which is the statement that the FI parameter changes sign under the duality — equivalently, the topological currents of the $U(N_c)$ and $U(N_c^D)$ dual gauge groups are identified up to a sign.

In the limiting case $N_f = N_c$, the dual theory consists of a linear σ -model with $N_f^2 + 2$ chiral multiplets $M^k{}_i$, \mathfrak{T}^{\pm} which are coupled through the superpotential $W = \mathfrak{T}^+\mathfrak{T}^- \det(M)$. Finally, for $N_f < N_c$, we either have a quantum-deformed moduli space (for $N_f = N_c - 1$) or supersymmetry breaking (for $N_f < N_c - 1$) [28].

4.2 Minimally chiral duality with l=0

Next, let us consider the case $k \neq 0$ with l = 0 and with the 'minimally chiral' condition $|k| > |k_c|$. We have a duality:

$$U(N_c)_k, (n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}) \longleftrightarrow U(N_c^D)_{-k}, (n_a \square, n_f \overline{\square}), (M_i^j).$$
 (4.6)

with:

$$N_c^D = \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) + |k| - N_c.$$
(4.7)

Now the singlet sector only consists of the 'mesons' M_i^j , with the standard superpotential $W = \tilde{q}_i M_i^j q_j$ as in 4d Seiberg duality. The matter content is shown in table 5. There are

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$	$\mathrm{SU}(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$	condition
q_{j}		1		-1	0	1-r	
\widetilde{q}^i			1	-1	0	1-r	
M_i^j	1			2	0	2r	
\mathfrak{T}^+	1	1	1	$-N_f$	1	r_T	$k = \frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a)$
\mathfrak{T}^-	1	1	1	$-N_f$	-1	r_T	$k = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a)$

Table 5. Field content of the infrared dual of unitary SQCD with l = 0. The gauge singlets \mathfrak{T}^{\pm} only appear in the marginally chiral case (or in the Aharony dual), as indicated. Here $N_f \equiv N_c + N_c^D$.

also mixed gauge-flavour bare CS levels:

$$K_{GT} = -1$$
, $K_{GA} = \Theta(k)(n_f - n_a)$, $K_{GR} = \Theta(k)(n_f - n_a)(r - 1)$. (4.8)

Finally and importantly, we have the bare flavour CS levels shown in table 6. Note that the bare CS levels depend on the sign of k, and that changing the sign of k does not simply change the sign of the bare CS levels. This is because of our parity-violating conventions, of course. For any given theory with the 'U(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}} quantisation' convention, a parity transformation changes the sign of the physical contact terms $\kappa = \kappa^{\Phi} + K$ as $\kappa \to -\kappa$ but the UV 'matter' contribution κ^{Φ} remains the same by convention, as defined in (2.32)–(2.33), hence a parity transformation changes the bare CS levels according to:

$$P: K \to -K - 2\kappa^{\Phi}. \tag{4.9}$$

Now, if we consider the fact that we chose $K_F = 0$ for all the flavour bare CS levels in the 'electric' theory, $K_F^{(e)} = 0$, irrespective of the sign of k, we find that, in the magnetic theory:

$$K_F^{(m)}|_{k\to -k} = -K_F^{(m)} - 2\kappa_F^{\Phi(m)} + 2\kappa_F^{\Phi(e)},$$
 (4.10)

where $\kappa_F^{\Phi(e)}$ and $\kappa_F^{\Phi(m)}$ denote the matter contributions in the electric and magnetic theories, respectively. This gives us the relation between the two columns in table 6.¹⁶

This minimally chiral duality, including all the flavour CS levels, can be derived from the Aharony duality by integrating out flavours [30], as we review in appendix A.

4.3 Marginally chiral duality with l = 0

Consider now the 'marginally chiral' cases with $|k| = |k_c|$ and l = 0, with k_c defined in (3.17). In this case, the dual gauge theory is coupled to another gauge singlet in addition to the mesons, corresponding to the single gauge-invariant monopole operator \mathfrak{T}^+ or \mathfrak{T}^- in the electric theory (for $k = k_c$ or $k = -k_c$, respectively), as indicated in table 5. We then have the duality:

$$U(N_c)_k, (n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}) \longleftrightarrow U(N_c^D)_{-k}, (n_a \square, n_f \overline{\square}), (M_i{}^j, \mathfrak{T}^{\epsilon}),$$
 (4.11)

For instance, consider K_{AA} . We have $\kappa_{AA}^{\Phi(e)} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)N_c$ according to (3.10), and $\kappa_{AA}^{\Phi(m)} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a)N_c - 2n_f n_a$ in the magnetic theory (including the contribution from the mesons). Then the relation (4.10) is indeed satisfied by the levels given in table 6.

	$k > k_c $	$k \le - k_c $
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_f)}$	N_c^D	$-N_c + n_a$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_a)}$	N_c^D	$-N_c + n_f$
K_{AA}	$(n_f + n_a)N_c^D$	$4n_f n_a - (n_f + n_a)N_c$
K_{TT}	-1	1
K_{AT}	0	0
K_{RA}	$(n_f + n_a)N_c^D r$	$(n_a + n_f)N_c - 2n_f n_a + (4n_f n_a - (n_f + n_a)N_c)r$
K_{RT}	0	0
K_{RR}	$(-N_c^D + (n_f + n_a)r^2)N_c^D$	$(N_c - n_f)(N_c - n_a) + 2r((n_a + n_f)N_c - 2n_f n_a)$
IN RR	$(-i\mathbf{v}_c + (n_f + n_a)^T)^{T}\mathbf{v}_c$	$+r^2(4n_fn_a - (n_f + n_a)N_c)$
K_g	$(n_f + n_a - 2k)N_c^D - 2$	$2n_f n_a - (n_f + n_a + 2k)N_c + 2$

Table 6. Flavour bare CS levels for the minimally-chiral $U(N_c^D)_{-k}$ gauge theory (l=0), as well as for the marginally chiral case with $k=-|k_c|<0$.

with a dual superpotential $W = \tilde{q}^i M_i{}^j q_i + \mathfrak{T}^{\epsilon} t_{\epsilon}$ for $\epsilon = \pm$. Note that:

$$N_c^D = \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) + |k| - N_c = \max(n_f, n_a) - N_c, \tag{4.12}$$

in this case. Note also that the R-charge of \mathfrak{T}^{ϵ} is given by:

$$r_T = -(N_c^D + N_c)(r - 1) - N_c + 1. (4.13)$$

The mixed gauge-flavour CS levels are the same as in (4.8). The flavour bare CS levels have to be carefully determined by real-mass deformation from Aharony duality, like for the minimally chiral case (see appendix A). For $k = |k_c| > 0$, those levels are given in table 7, while for $k = -|k_c|$ they were given in table 6.

4.4 Maximally chiral duality with l = 0

Finally, we have the maximally chiral case when $|k| < |k_c|$ and l = 0. The general form of the duality is the same as in for minimally chiral case (4.6), with the matter content of table 5, but with the dual rank given by:

$$N_c^D = \max(n_f, n_a) - N_c, (4.14)$$

and with the mixed gauge-flavour CS levels:

$$K_{GT} = -1$$
, $K_{GA} = \operatorname{sign}(k_c)(k + |k_c|)$, $K_{GR} = \operatorname{sign}(k_c)(k + |k_c|)(r - 1)$. (4.15)

Finally, we have the flavour bare CS levels given in table 8.

One can check the matching of partition functions across these dualities explicitly. Given the precise definition of the dual theories, including all the bare CS levels, one can apply the formalism of section 2 to verify that the twisted indices of dual theories exactly agree:

$$Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}[SQCD] = Z_{\Sigma_g \times S^1}[dual SQCD].$$
 (4.16)

	$k = k_c , n_f > n_a$	$k = k_c , n_a > n_f$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_f)}$	N_c^D	N_c^D
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_a)}$	N_c^D	N_c^D
K_{AA}	$n_f^2 + (n_f + n_a)N_c^D$	$n_a^2 + (n_f + n_a)N_c^D$
K_{TT}	0	0
K_{AT}	$-n_f$	n_a
K_{RA}	$-N_c^D n_f + r(n_f^2 + (n_f + n_a)N_c^D)$	$-N_c^D n_a + r(n_a^2 + (n_f + n_a)N_c^D)$
K_{RT}	$N_c^D-rn_f$	$-N_c^D + rn_a$
K_{RR}	$-2rN_c^Dn_f$	$-2rN_c^Dn_a$
N _{RR}	$+r^2(n_f^2+(n_f+n_a)N_c^D)$	$+r^2(n_a^2+(n_f+n_a)N_c^D)$
K_g	$2n_aN_c^D$	$2n_fN_c^D$

Table 7. Flavour bare CS levels for the marginally chiral dual with $k = |k_c| > 0$ (l = 0).

	$ k < k_c , n_f > n_a$	$ k < k_c , n_a > n_f$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_f)}$	$k + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c$	$n_a - N_c$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_a)}$	$n_f - N_c$	$k + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c$
K_{AA}	$K_{AA}^{+} \equiv n_f^2 + 3n_f(k - k_c) + 2N_c^D(n_f - k_c)$	$K_{AA}^- \equiv n_a^2 + 3n_a(k+k_c) + 2N_c^D(n_a+k_c)$
K_{TT}	0	0
K_{AT}	$-n_f$	n_a
K .	$K_{RA}^{(0)+} + rK_{AA}^+$,	$K_{RA}^{(0)-} + rK_{AA}^{-}$,
K_{RA}	$K_{RA}^{(0)+} \equiv -(k - k_c)(n_f + N_c^D) + n_f N_c^D$	$K_{RA}^{(0)-} \equiv -(k+k_c)(n_a+N_c^D) + n_a N_c^D$
K_{RT}	$N_c^D - r n_f$	$-N_c^D + rn_a$
K_{RR}	$N_c^D(k-k_c) + 2rK_{RA}^{(0)+} + r^2K_{AA}^+$	$N_c^D(k+k_c) + 2rK_{RA}^{(0)-} + r^2K_{AA}^-$
K_g	$2n_aN_c^D$	$2n_f N_c^D$

Table 8. Flavour bare CS levels for the maximally chiral dual, $|k| < |k_c|$ (l = 0).

The proof of this equality for Aharony duality in the 'U(1) $_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ quantisation' was given in [10], building on previous works [9, 13–15], and the equality of twisted indices for the other SQCD theories with l=0 then follows from standard RG flow arguments. Here, our focus was instead on computing the index on both sides explicitly, and the fact that (4.16) indeed holds in many examples¹⁷ is a nice check of our formalism. Moreover, for unitary SQCD with $l \neq 0$, which we study in the next section, no general proof of this equality is available so far.

¹⁷On a laptop computer, we can check the matching of indices across dualities for most gauge theories with rank up to 3 and with the parameters k, l, n_f, n_a small enough.

4.5 Special cases: abelian dualities

Let us briefly discuss a few special cases with $N_c = 1$ where the dual theory consists of chiral multiplets only. These 'elementary' dualities will be particularly useful in the next section.

The SQED/XYZ duality. Consider the U(1)₀ theory with $n_f = n_a = 1$. It has a dual description in terms of three chiral multiplets M, \mathfrak{T}^{\pm} with the superpotential:

$$W = \mathfrak{T}^{+}\mathfrak{T}^{-}M, \qquad (4.17)$$

also known as the XYZ model (with X = M, $Y = \mathfrak{T}^+$, $Z = \mathfrak{T}^-$). This can be viewed as a limiting case of Aharony duality. This theory has a flavour symmetry $U(1)_T \times U(1)_A$ and a R-symmetry. In our conventions, we have the following flavour CS contact terms in the dual description:

$$K_{TT} = 1$$
, $K_{TA} = K_{TR} = 0$,
 $K_{AA} = 2$, $K_{AR} = 2r$, (4.18)
 $K_{RR} = 2r^2$, $K_g = 2$.

as a limiting case of (4.4).

The $U(1)_{\pm 1}$ CS theory. Consider the 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ CS theory $U(1)_1$ without matter fields. This is the 'almost trivial theory' studied in [66]: it is dual to an invertible theory (i.e. a trivial theory with CS contact terms):

$$U(1)_1 \longleftrightarrow K_{TT} = -1, K_{RT} = 0, K_{RR} = 0, K_g = -2.$$
 (4.19)

This is a special case of the Giveon-Kutasov duality [29], and these CS contact terms are obtained by setting $N_c = n_a = n_f = k = 1$ in table 6. For the other sign of the Chern-Simons level, we similarly find:

$$U(1)_{-1} \longleftrightarrow K_{TT} = 1, K_{RT} = 0, K_{RR} = 1, K_g = 4.$$
 (4.20)

The U(1) $_{\pm\frac{1}{2}}$ theory coupled to one chiral flavour. Let us consider the U(1) $_{\frac{1}{2}}$ theory coupled to one chiral multiplet Φ_{\pm} of electric charge ± 1 and R-charge r, with $k=\frac{1}{2}$. This theory has a flavour symmetry U(1) $_T$, and it is dual to a free chiral multiplet \mathfrak{T}^{\pm} of U(1) $_T$ charge ± 1 and R-charge 1-r, with the following CS contact terms:

$$U(1)_{\frac{1}{2}}, \Phi_{\pm}, K_{GR} = 0, \longleftrightarrow \mathfrak{T}^{\pm}, \begin{cases} K_{TT} = 0, & K_{RT} = \mp r, \\ K_{RR} = r^2, & K_g = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.21)

Note that, in our conventions, we have a bare CS level $K_{GG} = 1$ for the U(1) gauge group on the 'electric' side of the duality. With the opposite sign for the UV CS level, $k = -\frac{1}{2}$, we find instead:

$$U(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}}, \Phi_{\pm}, K_{GR} = \pm (r-1), \longleftrightarrow \mathfrak{T}^{\mp}, \begin{cases} K_{TT} = 1, & K_{RT} = 0, \\ K_{RR} = -r^2 + 2r, & K_g = 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.22)

These well-known dualities [86] are limiting cases of the marginally chiral dualities reviewed in section 4.3.

5 Infrared dualities for $U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ SQCD

In this section, we discuss the infrared dualities for unitary SQCD with general value of l. These dualities were first discovered by Nii for $n_a = n_f$ and $k \neq 0$ [48]. They were further generalised by Amariti and Rota [64], who argued that the dualities with $l \neq 0$ can be easily derived from the l = 0 dualities by using Kapustin-Strassler and Witten's $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ action on 3d field theories with abelian symmetries [65, 66]. We elaborate on this construction in the following.

5.1 $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ action and the 3d A-model

Let us first discuss the Kapustin-Strassler-Witten $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformations in the language of the 3d A-model. We will then rederive all the $l \neq 0$ dualities by an appropriate $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformation of the l=0 dualities summarised in the previous section. We again pay particular attention to deriving the exact bare CS levels in all cases.

Let us consider some 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric gauge theory \mathcal{T} with a U(1)_f flavour symmetry, and the associated 3d A-model determined by the twisted superpotential $\mathcal{W}(u,\nu)$ and the effective dilaton $\Omega(u,\nu)$, with ν the U(1)_f chemical potential (i.e. the 2d twisted mass). Here u_a denotes gauge parameters for dynamical vector multiplets, and the remaining flavour parameters are left implicit. The $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ action sends \mathcal{T} to another field theory $g[\mathcal{T}]$ for any $g \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Let **S** and **T** denote the two standard generators of $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$, with:

$$\mathbf{S}^2 = \mathbf{C}, \qquad (\mathbf{ST})^3 = \mathbf{C}, \qquad \mathbf{C}^2 = \mathbf{1}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where \mathbb{C} is the central element generating $\mathbb{Z}_2 \subset \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. These actions generate new field theories with the same number of U(1) symmetries. They act on \mathcal{T} as follows:

(i) $\mathbf{S}: \mathcal{T} \to \mathbf{S}[\mathcal{T}] \equiv \mathcal{T}/\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ corresponds to gauging the abelian symmetry $\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ with a 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ vector multiplet. The new $\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ dynamical field strength $F_f=dA_f$ gives us the conserved current of a new topological symmetry, denoted by $\mathrm{U}(1)_{f'}$, which we couple to a background $\mathrm{U}(1)_{f'}$ multiplet with a supersymmetric f-f' mixed CS level, also known as a 3d BF term:

$$-\frac{i}{2\pi} \int (A_{f'} \wedge F_f + \cdots), \qquad (5.2)$$

where the ellipsis denotes the supersymmetric completion. At the level of the 3d A-model, we rename ν as v to indicate that it is now a gauge parameter, and the new coupling (5.2) appears as a quadratic term in the new twisted superpotential:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{S}} \mathcal{W}(u,v) - \nu' v, \qquad \qquad \Omega(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{S}} \Omega(u,v), \qquad (5.3)$$

with ν' the $U(1)_{f'}$ parameter. We then simply add a new equation for the $U(1)_f$ gauge symmetry to the Bethe equations:

$$\left\{ \Pi_a \equiv e^{2\pi i \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial u_a}} = 1 \right\} \quad \stackrel{\mathbf{S}}{\longrightarrow} \quad \left\{ \Pi_a = 1 \,, \, \Pi_v \equiv e^{2\pi i \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial v} - \nu' \right)} = 1 \right\}. \tag{5.4}$$

(ii) $\mathbf{T}: \mathcal{T} \to \mathbf{T}[\mathcal{T}]$ corresponds to shifting the $\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ CS contact term by 1:

$$\kappa_{ff} \to \kappa_{ff} + 1,$$
(5.5)

by adding a level-1 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric Chern-Simons interaction for the $\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ background vector multiplet to the action:

$$S \to S + \frac{i}{4\pi} \int (A_f \wedge dA_f + \cdots).$$
 (5.6)

In the 3d A-model, we then have:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{T}} \mathcal{W}(u,\nu) + \frac{1}{2}(\nu^2 + \nu), \qquad \Omega(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{T}} \Omega(u,\nu).$$
 (5.7)

(iii) The central element \mathbf{C} acts as sign flip on the $\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ current and its superpartners, which is equivalent to a sign flip of the $\mathrm{U}(1)_f$ background vector multiplet. Thus, in the 3d A-model:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{C}} \mathcal{W}(u,-\nu), \qquad \qquad \Omega(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{C}} \Omega(u,-\nu).$$
 (5.8)

It is interesting to verify the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ relations (5.1) directly in the 3d A-model formalism. We use the fact that, when a gauge field A_0 only appears linearly through a 3d BF term,

$$S_0 = \frac{i}{2\pi} \sum_{i \neq 0} K_{0i} \int A_0 \wedge dA_i \,, \tag{5.9}$$

the path integral over A_0 gives us a functional Dirac δ -function [66]:

$$\int [dA_0]e^{-S_0} = \delta\left(\sum_{i\neq 0} K_{0i}A_i\right),\tag{5.10}$$

and similarly in the 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric context. Now, consider the action:

$$\mathbf{S}^2 : \mathcal{W}(\nu) \longrightarrow \mathcal{W}(\nu'') = \mathcal{W}(v) - v'v - \nu''v'. \tag{5.11}$$

Here, the path integral over the v' vector multiplet gives us $\delta(v+\nu'')$, schematically speaking, and therefore we obtain the original theory with a sign flip of ν , as expected:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \stackrel{\mathbf{S}^2=\mathbf{C}}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{W}(u,-\nu''),$$
 (5.12)

up to a slight subtlety to be discussed momentarily. To compute $(\mathbf{ST})^3$, note that we have:

$$\mathbf{ST} : \mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \longrightarrow \mathcal{W}(u,v) + \frac{1}{2}v(v+1) - \nu'v, \qquad (5.13)$$

and therefore:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{(\mathbf{ST})^3} \mathcal{W}(u,v) + \frac{1}{2}v(v+1) + \frac{1}{2}v'(v'+1) + \frac{1}{2}v''(v''+1) - v'v - v''v' - \nu'''v''. \tag{5.14}$$

After performing a change of variable $v' \to v' + v'' + \nu'''$, integrating out v'' gives us $\delta(v + \nu''')$, and we obtain:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \stackrel{(\mathbf{ST})^3}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{W}^{\mathcal{T}}(u,-\nu''') + \frac{1}{2}v'(v'+1) + 2\nu'''(\nu'''+v'). \tag{5.15}$$

The (sign-flipped) original theory is now tensored with a decoupled topological sector which is an 'almost trivial' theory [66], namely a U(1)₁ CS theory. Indeed, the additional Bethe equation for v' in (5.15) is decoupled from the other Bethe equations of the full theory, and it has a unique solution.

5.2 From $U(N_c)_k$ to $U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}$ SQCD

The $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ action allows us to generate a non-zero CS level l starting from a $U(N_c)_k$ gauge theory, as we now explain.

S and S^{-1} on 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric theories. When acting with S on \mathcal{T} , we introduce a new abelian vector multiplet. It contains a single gaugino, which shifts some of CS contact terms in the UV according to:

$$\kappa_{RR} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{S}} \kappa_{RR} + \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \kappa_g \xrightarrow{\mathbf{S}} \kappa_g + 1, \qquad (5.16)$$

in our conventions. Thus, more precisely, the action of S^2 on \mathcal{T} actually gives us:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{S}^2 = \mathbf{C}} \mathcal{W}(u,-\nu'') + \frac{1}{12}, \qquad \Omega(u,\nu) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{S}^2 = \mathbf{C}} \Omega(u,-\nu'') + \frac{1}{2},$$
 (5.17)

which includes the shifts $K_g \to K_g + 2$ and $K_{RR} \to K_{RR} + 1$. By a slight abuse of notation, let us then define an inverse operation:

$$\mathbf{S}^{-1} \equiv \delta(K) \circ \mathbf{C} \circ \mathbf{S} \,. \tag{5.18}$$

It consists of the naive inverse, $\mathbf{C} \circ \mathbf{S}$, combined with a shift of the bare CS levels:

$$\delta(K): K_{RR} \to K_{RR} - 1, \qquad K_q \to K_q - 2,$$
 (5.19)

so that $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{S}$ is truly the identity on \mathcal{T} .

The $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}$ action on $\mathbf{U}(N_{c})_{k}$ SQCD. Let us now start with \mathcal{T} being SQCD with l=0. We can obtain the $l\neq 0$ theory by acting with $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}$ on the topological symmetry $\mathbf{U}(1)_{T}$ of the l=0 theory. Indeed, at the level of the A-model, let τ denote the $\mathbf{U}(1)_{T}$ parameter and ν the other flavour parameters. Let us also decompose the gauge parameters u_{a} as

$$u_a = \tilde{u}_a + u_0, \qquad \sum_{a=1}^{N_c} \tilde{u}_a = 0.$$
 (5.20)

We have that the twisted superpotential is linear in τ :

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu,\tau) = \mathcal{W}_0(u,\nu) + \tau N_c u_0, \qquad (5.21)$$

and that $\Omega = \Omega(u, \nu)$ is τ -independent. That is, all the flavour CS levels $K_{T\alpha}$ and K_{RT} vanish, with τ coupling to the gauge symmetry with $K_{GT} = 1$. To act with $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}$, we first render $\mathrm{U}(1)_{T}$ dynamical, relabelling $\tau \to v$, and we introduce w the flavour parameter for the new topological symmetry. We add a level-l for the latter, before gauging it with \mathbf{S}^{-1} , and we call the new abelian flavour symmetry $\mathrm{U}(1)_{T}$ again, with a new parameter τ . Thus, we have:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu,\tau) \stackrel{\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{W}_{0}(u,\nu) + vN_{c}u_{0} - wv + \frac{l}{2}w(w+1) + \tau w.$$
 (5.22)

The vector multiplet for v only appears linearly, hence we can integrate it out, which leads to a δ -function constraint $w = N_c u$, and we then obtain precisely the general SQCD theory:

$$\mathcal{W}(u,\nu,\tau) \stackrel{\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{W}(u,\nu,\tau) + \frac{l}{2}N_{c}u_{0}(N_{c}u_{0}+1). \tag{5.23}$$

This action only introduced the $l \neq 0$ CS term, and it did not change any of the flavour CS levels thanks to the definition (5.18)–(5.19).

5.3 Amariti-Rota duality $(k = 0, n_f = n_a)$

To obtain the dual descriptions of SQCD with generic l, we can simply act with $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}$ on the dual descriptions reviewed in the previous section. Let us start with the case of k=0 and $n_f=n_a\equiv N_f$. The dual description at l=0 is the Aharony magnetic theory discussed below (4.1). At the level of the 3d A-model, the $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}$ action on the Aharony dual theory gives us:

$$W = W_0 + \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \left(\text{Li}_2(zy_A^{-N_f}) + \text{Li}_2(z^{-1}y_A^{-N_f}) \right) - vN_c^D u_0 + \frac{1}{2}v(v+1) - vw + \frac{l}{2}w(w+1) + \tau w,$$
(5.24)

where we renamed τ to v (and $q = e^{2\pi i\tau}$ to $z = e^{2\pi iv}$), \mathcal{W}_0 is v-independent, and we used the same notation as in (5.20) for the dual gauge group $U(N_c^D)$. This new theory contains a subsector that is isomorphic to SQED. Indeed, we have:

$$\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_0 + \frac{l}{2}w(w+1) + \tau w + \mathcal{W}_{SQED},
\mathcal{W}_{SQED} \equiv \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \left(\text{Li}_2(zy_A^{-N_f}) + \text{Li}_2(z^{-1}y_A^{-N_f}) \right) + \frac{1}{2}v(v+1) + \tilde{\tau}v,$$
(5.25)

with $\tilde{\tau} \equiv -w - N_c^D u_0$. Using the SQCD/XYZ duality reviewed in section 4.5, we can integrate out the vector multiplet for v, and we obtain:

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{SQED}} \leftrightarrow \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \left(\text{Li}_2(y_A^{-2N_f}) + \text{Li}_2(y_A^{N_f} x_0 x_{(w)}) + \text{Li}_2(y_A^{N_f} x_0^{-1} x_{(w)}^{-1}) \right)
+ N_f^2 \nu_A(\nu_A + 1) + \frac{1}{2} w(w + 1) + \frac{1}{2} N_c^D u_0(N_c^D u_0 + 1) + N_c^D w u_0 + \frac{1}{12} ,$$
(5.26)

and similarly for the effective dilaton. Here $x_0 = e^{2\pi i u_0}$ and $x_{(w)} = e^{2\pi i w}$. The local application of the duality shifts various flavour CS terms, as dictated by (4.18), and one

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)^{(w)}$	$\mathrm{SU}(N_f)$	$\mathrm{SU}(N_f)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$
q_{j}		0	1		-1	0	1-r
\widetilde{q}^i		0		1	-1	0	1-r
M^{j}_{i}	1	0			2	0	2r
\mathcal{B}_+	\det^{+1}	1	1	1	N_f	0	$-r_T+1$
\mathcal{B}_{-}	\det^{-1}	-1	1	1	N_f	0	$-r_T+1$
X	1	0	1	1	$-2N_f$	0	$2r_T$

Table 9. Field content of the Amariti-Rota dual theory, with $N_c^D = N_f - N_c$. Here $\det^{\pm 1}$ denotes the one-dimensional representation of $\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$ with weight $\rho = (\pm 1, \cdots, \pm 1)$, and $r_T = -N_f(r-1) - N_c + 1$ like in the Aharony dual theory.

must also take into account the shift (5.19). In total, only the K_{AR} and K_{RR} CS contact terms incur a shift $K \to K + \Delta K$ with respect to the Aharony dual theory, with:

$$\Delta K_{AR} = -N_f(2 + 2(r_T - 1)), \qquad \Delta K_{RR} = 4(r_T - 1) + 2(r_T - 1)^2 + 1.$$
 (5.27)

Moreover, the new topological symmetry $U(1)_T$ corresponds to the magnetic flux of the new $U(1)^{(w)}$ gauge group (with vector multiplet w), and the new FI term τ enters as in (5.25), thus we have $K_{Tw} = 1$. Proceeding in this way, we obtain the Amariti-Rota duality [64]:

$$U(N_f - N_c)_{0,0} \times U(1)_l^{(w)},$$

$$U(N_c)_{0,lN_c}, N_f(\Box \oplus \overline{\Box}) \longleftrightarrow N_f(\Box \oplus \overline{\Box}), (M_i^j, \mathcal{B}_+, \mathcal{B}_-, X).$$

$$(5.28)$$

The dual matter fields and their charges are given in table 9. In addition to the dual flavours and mesonic fields, we have an additional singlet X as well as the 'baryonic' fields \mathcal{B}_{\pm} charged under both U(1) factors of the gauge group. The gauge singlets are coupled to the gauge sector through the superpotential:

$$W = \tilde{q}^i M_i{}^j q_i + \mathcal{B}_+ \mathcal{B}_- X \,. \tag{5.29}$$

Note that the $U(1)^{(w)}$ gauge group has an UV effective CS level l, which corresponds to $K_{ww} = l + 1$. Similarly, the effective mixed CS level between the two gauge groups vanishes, $k_{G_0w} = 0$, but we have a bare CS level $K_{G_0w} = 1$ as shown in (5.26). Finally, the flavour bare CS levels for the Amariti-Rota dual are slightly different from the ones of the Aharony dual theory due to (5.27). We have:

$$\begin{split} K_{\mathrm{SU}(N_f)}^{(\mathrm{AR})} &= \tilde{K}_{\mathrm{SU}(N_f)}^{(\mathrm{AR})} = N_c^D \,, \\ K_{AA}^{(\mathrm{AR})} &= 2N_f \Big(N_c^D + 2N_f \Big) \,, \\ K_{AR}^{(\mathrm{AR})} &= -2N_f \Big(2N_c^D + 1 \Big) + 2N_f \Big(N_c^D + 2N_f \Big) r \,, \\ K_{RR}^{(\mathrm{AR})} &= 1 + N_c^D (3N_c^D + 4) - 4N_f \Big(2N_c^D + 1 \Big) r + 2N_f \Big(N_c^D + 2N_f \Big) r^2 \,, \\ K_g^{(\mathrm{AR})} &= 2N_f N_c^D + 2 \,, \end{split}$$
 (5.30)

with all other flavour CS levels vanishing.

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)^{(w)}$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$	condition
q_{j}		0	1		-1	0	1-r	
\widetilde{q}^i		0		1	-1	0	1-r	
$M^{j}{}_{i}$	1	0			2	0	2r	
\mathcal{B}_+	\det^{+1}	1	1	1	N_f	0	$-r_T+1$	$ k = k_c$
\mathcal{B}	\det^{-1}	-1	1	1	N_f	0	$-r_T+1$	$ k = -k_c$

Table 10. Field content of the infrared dual of unitary SQCD with l=0 and $|k| \ge |k_c|$. The baryonic fields \mathcal{B}_{\pm} only appear in the marginally chiral case (or in the Amariti-Rota dual), as indicated. Recall that $r_T = -(N_c + N_c^D)(r-1) - N_c + 1$.

5.4 Minimally chiral duality with general l

Let us now turn on the CS level k. We use the notation $k_c \equiv \frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a)$ as before, and we first consider the minimally chiral case, namely the case $|k| > |k_c|$ with $k \neq 0$. The dual theory is obtained by an $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^l\mathbf{S}$ action on the dual theory of section 4.2. In the 3d A-model, this gives us:

$$W = W_0 - vN_c^D u_0 - \frac{\text{sign}(k)}{2}v(v+1) - vw + \frac{l}{2}w(w+1) + \tau w, \qquad (5.31)$$

with the same conventions as in the previous subsection. Now, the subsector involving the gauge field for v is simply the 'almost trivial' CS theory $U(1)_{-\operatorname{sign}(k)}$. We use the duality (4.19) if k < 0, and we use the duality (4.20) if k > 0. By a straightforward computation, we then derive the following generalised Nii duality [48, 64]:

$$U(N_c^D)_{-k, -k + \operatorname{sign}(k)N_c^D} \times U(1)_{l + \operatorname{sign}(k)},$$

$$U(N_c)_{k, k + lN_c}, (n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}) \longleftrightarrow (n_a \square, n_f \overline{\square}), (M_i^j).$$

$$(5.32)$$

with $N_c^D = |k| + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c$ and the dual superpotential $W = \tilde{q}_i M_i{}^j q_j$.

The matter content of the magnetic theory is given in the upper part of table 10. As for the Amariti-Rota duality, the new $U(1)_T$ symmetry only enters through the standard FI term of the $U(1)^{(w)}$ gauge group, and the other mixed gauge-global CS levels (not involving $U(1)_T$) remain the same as in (4.8), hence we have:

$$K_{G_0T} = 0 \,, \quad K_{wT} = 1 \,, \quad K_{GA} = \Theta(k)(n_f - n_a) \,, \quad K_{GR} = \Theta(k)(n_f - n_a)(r - 1) \,. \eqno(5.33)$$

The flavour bare CS levels of the generalised Nii dual are given in table 11.

Note that for l = 0 the second gauge group $U(1)_{l\pm 1}$ reduces to $U(1)_{\pm 1}$. This can be eliminated from the description using a local duality, thus recovering the dual theory of section 4.2.

5.5 Marginally chiral duality with general l

Next, we consider the marginally chiral case, $|k| = |k_c|$. It is most convenient to consider the cases with positive and negative k separately.

	$k > k_c $	$k < - k_c $
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_f)}$	N_c^D	$-N_c + n_a$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_a)}$	N_c^D	$-N_c + n_f$
K_{AA}	$(n_f + n_a)N_c^D$	$4n_f n_a - (n_f + n_a)N_c$
K_{TT}	0	0
K_{AT}	0	0
K_{RA}	$(n_f + n_a)N_c^D r$	$(n_a + n_f)N_c - 2n_f n_a + (4n_f n_a - (n_f + n_a)N_c)r$
K_{RT}	0	0
		$(N_c - n_f)(N_c - n_a) - 1$
K_{RR}	$(-N_c^D + (n_f + n_a)r^2)N_c^D$	$+2r((n_a+n_f)N_c-2n_fn_a)$
		$+r^2(4n_fn_a - (n_f + n_a)N_c)$
K_g	$(n_f + n_a - 2k)N_c^D$	$2n_f n_a - (n_f + n_a + 2k)N_c - 2$

Table 11. Flavour bare CS levels for the minimally-chiral dual theory with general l.

Marginally chiral case with $k = |k_c|$. For definiteness, let us start by considering the case $k = k_c > 0$ (with $n_f > n_a$). The $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^l\mathbf{S}$ transformation on the magnetic theory of section 4.3 gives us:

$$W = W_0 + \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \text{Li}_2(y_A^{-n_f} z) - v N_c^D u_0 - n_f v \nu_A - w v + \frac{l}{2} w(w+1) + \tau w, \qquad (5.34)$$

where again W_0 denotes all the τ -independent terms in twisted superpotential the theory we started with. Renaming $\tau \to v$ upon gauging $U(1)_T$, the v-dependent terms precisely corresponds to the electric theory in the elementary duality (4.22), namely:

$$W_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}},\Phi_{+}} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{2}} \mathrm{Li}_{2}(y_{A}^{-n_{f}}z) + \tilde{\tau}v, \qquad \tilde{\tau} \equiv -N_{c}^{D}u_{0} - w - n_{f}v\nu_{A}.$$
 (5.35)

More precisely, we can identify the singlet \mathfrak{T}^+ with the field Φ_+ in (4.22), with R-charge $r \to r_T$, noting that $K_{RT} = r_T - 1$ in original l = 0 theory. The path integral over the vector multiplet v then gives a dual singlet which we can call \mathcal{B}_+ , of R-charge $1 - r_T$, with charge (det, 1) under the remaining gauge group $U(N_c^D) \times U(1)^{(w)}$. We have:

$$\mathcal{W}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}},\Phi_{+}} \leftrightarrow \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{2}} \mathrm{Li}_{2}(x_{0}^{N_{c}^{D}} x_{(w)} y_{A}^{n_{f}}) + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\tau}(\widetilde{\tau}+1) + \frac{1}{12}.$$
 (5.36)

The twisted superpotential of the new dual theory then reads:

$$W = W_0 + \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \text{Li}_2(x_0^{N_c^D} x_{(w)} y_A^{n_f}) + \frac{1}{2} N_c^D u_0(N_c^D u_0 + 1) + N_c^D u_0 w$$

$$+ \frac{l+1}{2} w(w+1) + \tau w - \frac{n_f^2}{2} \nu_A(\nu_A + 1),$$
(5.37)

	$k = k_c > 0$	$k = - k_c < 0$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_f)}$	N_c^D	$-N_c + n_a$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_a)}$	N_c^D	$-N_c + n_f$
K_{AA}	$(n_f + n_a)N_c^D$	$(n_f + n_a)N_c^D + 3n_a n_f \equiv K_{AA}^{(0)}$
K_{TT}	0	0
K_{AT}	0	0
**	37D($K_{RA}^{(0)} + rK_{AA}^{(0)},$
K_{RA}	$N_c^D(n_f + n_a)r$	$K_{RA}^{(0)} \equiv -N_c^D(n_f + n_a) + 2\max(n_f, n_a)^2$
		$-\max(n_f, n_a)(N_c^D + n_f + n_a + 1)$
K_{RT}	0	0
K_{RR}	$N_c^D(-N_c^D + (n_f + n_a)r^2)$	$N_c^D(2N_c^D + n_f + n_a - 2\max(n_f, n_a) + 2)$
11 КК	$rac(rac{rac}{rac} + (rac{rac}{rac} + rac{rac}{rac}))$	$2rK_{RA}^{(0)} + r^2K_{AA}^{(0)}$
K_g	$2\max(n_f, n_a)N_c^D$	$2N_c^D(n_f + n_a - \max(n_f, n_a))$

Table 12. Flavour bare CS levels for the marginally chiral dual theories, $|k| = |k_c|$, for general l.

and we have a similar transformation of the effective dilaton, as dictated by the dual flavour CS levels of the elementary duality (4.22). A careful accounting of the bare CS levels gives us the following non-zero shifts $K \to K + \Delta K$ with respect to the l=0 theory:

$$\Delta K_{AA} = -n_f^2$$
, $\Delta K_{RA} = (r_T - 1)n_f$, $\Delta K_{RR} = -r_T^2 + 2r_T - 1$. (5.38)

A similar computation can be carried out for the case $k = -k_c > 0$ (with $n_a > n_f$). This replaces the singlet \mathfrak{T}_- in the original theory with a chiral multiplet \mathcal{B}_+ of charge (det⁻¹, -1) under $\mathrm{U}(N_c^D) \times \mathrm{U}(1)^{(w)}$. The flavour CS level shifts are like in (5.38) with n_f replaced by n_a .

In summary, for $k = \epsilon k_c > 0$, for $\epsilon = \pm$, we have the duality:

$$U(N_c^D)_{-k, -k + \frac{1}{2}N_c^D} \times U(1)_{l + \frac{1}{2}}^{(w)},$$

$$U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}, (n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}) \longleftrightarrow \frac{1}{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$(5.39)$$

$$(n_a \square, n_f \overline{\square}), (M_i^j, \mathcal{B}_{\epsilon}),$$

with the dual superpotential $W = \tilde{q}_i M_i{}^j q_j$. The precise matter content is given in table 10. The mixed gauge-flavour CS levels are the same as in (5.33), namely:

$$K_{G_0T} = 0$$
, $K_{wT} = 1$, $K_{GA} = (n_f - n_a)$, $K_{GR} = (n_f - n_a)(r - 1)$, (5.40)

and the bare flavour CS levels are given on the left-hand-side of table 12.

Marginally chiral case with $k = -|k_c|$. The dual theories with $k = -|k_c| < 0$ can be derived similarly. In this case, we need to use the elementary duality (4.21). We find non-trivial shifts of the gauge-flavour CS levels:

$$\Delta K_{G_0A} = \Delta K_{wA} = \pm \max(n_f, n_a), \qquad \Delta K_{G_0R} = \Delta K_{wA} = \mp r_T, \qquad (5.41)$$

for $k = \mp k_c < 0$. We also have the flavour CS levels shifts:

$$\Delta K_{AA} = \max(n_f, n_a)^2, \qquad \Delta K_{AR} = -r_T \max(n_f, n_a), \Delta K_{RR} = r_T^2 - 1, \qquad \Delta K_a = -2,$$
 (5.42)

compared to the levels shown on the right-hand-side of table 6.

Fixing $k = -\epsilon k_c < 0$, for $\epsilon = \pm$, we then have the duality:

$$U(N_c^D)_{-k,-k-\frac{1}{2}N_c^D} \times U(1)_{l-\frac{1}{2}}^{(w)},$$

$$U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}, (n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}) \longleftrightarrow (n_a \square, n_f \overline{\square}), (M_i^j, \mathcal{B}_{\epsilon}),$$

$$(5.43)$$

with the superpotential $W = \tilde{q}_i M_i{}^j q_j$ and the matter content of table 10. We have the mixed gauge-flavour CS levels:

$$K_{G_0T} = 0$$
, $K_{wT} = 1$, $K_{G_0A} = K_{wA} = \epsilon \max(n_f, n_a)$, $K_{G_0R} = K_{wA} = -\epsilon r_T$, (5.44)

with r_T defined as in table 10. The bare flavour CS level are given in table 12.

5.6 Maximally chiral duality with general l

Last but not least, let us consider the maximally chiral duality. Starting from the l = 0 dual theory of section 4.4, the $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{T}^{l}\mathbf{S}$ action gives us:

$$W = W_0 - vN_c^D u_0 + K_{AT}^{(*)} v \nu_A - vw + \frac{l}{2} w(w+1) + \tau w,$$

$$\Omega = \Omega + K_{BT}^{(*)} v.$$
(5.45)

Here, as before, W_0 and Ω_0 contains all the v- and w-independent terms. Here we denote by $K^{(*)}$ the levels given in table 8. Note that the vector multiplet for v appears linearly, unlike in the previous cases. Therefore, integrating it out generate a functional δ -function:

$$\delta \left(W_{\mu} + \operatorname{tr}(A_{\mu}) - K_{AT}^{(*)} A_{\mu}^{(A)} - K_{AR}^{(*)} A_{\mu}^{(R)} \right), \tag{5.46}$$

with $\operatorname{tr}(A) = N_c^D A_0$ the $\operatorname{U}(1) \subset \operatorname{U}(N_c^D)$ gauge field, W_μ the w gauge field, and $A_\mu^{(F)}$ denoting the background gauge fields for a $\operatorname{U}(1)_F$ symmetry. Note the appearance of the $\operatorname{U}(1)_R$ gauge field because of the mixed topological-R level, $K_{RT}^{(*)} \neq 0$. Eliminating w from the description, we obtain:

$$W = W_0 - \tau N_c^D u_0 - \Delta K_{GA} \nu_A N_c^D u_0 + \frac{l}{2} N_c^D u_0 (N_c^D u_0 + 1) + \Delta K_{AA} \nu_A (\nu_A + 1) ,$$

$$\Omega = \Omega_0 + \Delta K_{GR} N_c^D u_0 + \Delta K_{RA} \nu_A + \frac{1}{2} \Delta K_{RR} ,$$
(5.47)

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^D)$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$
q_{j}		1		-1	0	1-r
\widetilde{q}^i			1	-1	0	1-r
$M^{j}{}_{i}$	1			2	0	2r

Table 13. Field content for the infrared dual of unitary SQCD with $|k| < |k_c|$.

where we defined:

$$\Delta K_{GA} = -lK_{AT}^{(*)}, \qquad \Delta K_{GR} = -lK_{RT}^{(*)},$$

$$\Delta K_{AA} = l\left(K_{AT}^{(*)}\right)^{2}, \qquad \Delta K_{RR} = l\left(K_{RT}^{(*)}\right)^{2},$$

$$\Delta K_{RA} = lK_{RT}^{(*)}K_{AT}^{(*)}.$$
(5.48)

In particular, we find that the maximally chiral dual theory has a gauge group $U(N_c^D)_{-k,-k+lN_c^D}$ with $N_c^D = \max(n_f,n_a) - N_c$, with the matter content of table 13.

In summary, we have:

$$U(N_c)_{k,\,k+lN_c}$$
, $(n_f \square, n_a \overline{\square}) \longleftrightarrow U(N_c^D)_{-k,\,-k+lN_c^D}$, $(n_a \square, n_f \overline{\square})$, (M_i^j) , (5.49)

with the usual Seiberg-dual superpotential. The dual theory contains the mixed gauge-flavour CS levels:

$$K_{GT} = -1,$$

$$K_{GA} = \operatorname{sign}(k_c)(k + |k_c| + l \max(n_f, n_a)),$$

$$K_{GR} = \operatorname{sign}(k_c)((k + |k_c| + l \max(n_f, n_a))(r - 1) - lN_c),$$
(5.50)

and the flavour bare CS levels given in table 14. This dual theory trivially reduces to the dual of section 4.4 upon setting l = 0.

As a special case of the maximally chiral duality, consider $n_a = 0$ and a CS level $|k| < \frac{n_f}{2}$. We then have the simple-looking duality:

$$U(N_c)_{k,k+lN_c}, n_f \square \longleftrightarrow U(n_f - N_c)_{-k,-k+l(n_f - N_c)}, n_f \overline{\square},$$
 (5.51)

Upon choosing a positive FI parameter, the Higgs branch of the electric theory is given by the complex Grassmannian $Gr(N_c, n_f)$. This duality has a natural interpretation in terms of the obvious geometric isomorphism of the dual Higgs branches:

$$Gr(N_c, n_f) \cong Gr(n_f - N_c, n_f). \tag{5.52}$$

In this Higgs phase, certain choices of the levels k, l have an interpretation in terms of the (generalised) quantum K-theory of $Gr(N_c, n_f)$ — see e.g. [87–92]. We will come back to this point in future work.

	$ k < k_c , \ n_f > n_a$	$ k < k_c , \ n_a > n_f$
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_f)}$	$k + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c$	n_a – N_c
$K_{\mathrm{SU}(n_a)}$	$n_f\!-\!N_c$	$k + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c$
K_{AA}	$K_{AA}^{+} \equiv (l+1)n_f^2 + 3n_f(k-k_c)$	$K_{AA}^{-} \equiv (l+1)n_a^2 + 3n_a(k+k_c)$
T AA	$+2N_c^D(n_f\!-\!k_c)$	$+2N_c^D(n_a+k_c)$
K_{TT}	0	0
K_{AT}	$-n_f$	n_a
	$K_{RA}^{(0)+}\!+\!rK_{AA}^{+},$	$K_{RA}^{(0)-} + rK_{AA}^-,$
K_{RA}	$K_{RA}^{(0)+} \equiv -(k\!-\!k_c)(n_f\!+\!N_c^D)$	$K_{RA}^{(0)-} \equiv -(k+k_c)(n_a+N_c^D)$
	$+(l\!+\!1)n_fN_c^D$	$+(l+1)n_aN_c^D$
K_{RT}	$N_c^D\!-\!rn_f$	$-N_c^D + rn_a$
K_{RR}	$N_c^D(k - k_c + lN_c^D) + 2rK_{RA}^{(0)+} + r^2K_{AA}^+$	$N_c^D(k+k_c+lN_c^D)+2rK_{RA}^{(0)-}+r^2K_{AA}^-$
K_g	$2n_aN_c^D$	$2n_f N_c^D$

Table 14. Flavour bare CS levels for the maximally chiral dual, $|k| < |k_c|$, for general l. Note that, unlike in all the other cases, the flavour CS levels depend on l.

Acknowledgments

We thank Mathew Bullimore, Stefano Cremonesi, Heeyeon Kim, Horia Magureanu, Sakura Schafer-Nameki, and Eric Sharpe for discussions and correspondence. CC is a Royal Society University Research Fellow and a Birmingham Fellow, and his work is supported by the University Research Fellowship Renewal 2022 'Singularities, supersymmetry and SQFT invariants'. The work of OK is supported by the School of Mathematics at the University of Birmingham.

A Real mass deformations and the l = 0 dualities

In this appendix, we briefly review the derivation of the minimally, marginally and maximally chiral dualities for l=0, assuming Aharony duality, as originally discussed in [30]. We revisit this analysis here for completeness. This also allows us to explain how to carry out this standard computation in the gauge-symmetry-preserving conventions spelled out in section 2.2.

A.1 Integrating out massive chiral multiplets

Consider a 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ chiral multiplet Φ coupled to $\mathrm{U}(1)_I$ vectors multiplets with charges Q_I . We are interested in giving a large real mass $m_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ to Φ , thus integrating it out from the description. In the limit $|m_0| \to \infty$, the UV contact terms are shifted according to:

$$\delta \kappa_{IJ} = \frac{1}{2} Q_I Q_J \operatorname{sign}(m_0). \tag{A.1}$$

This is easily generalised to any non-abelian symmetry that Φ might be charged under. Integrating out a massive chiral multiplet Φ always shifts the CS contact terms according to:

$$\delta \kappa = -\kappa^{\Phi} \operatorname{sign}(m_0), \qquad (A.2)$$

for any symmetry, where the contributions κ^{Φ} from a single chiral multiplet are defined as in section 2.2. Importantly, this means that the bare CS levels K are shifted as:

$$\delta K = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } m_0 > 0, \\ 2\kappa^{\Phi} & \text{if } m_0 < 0. \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

Take for example a massive chiral multiplet Φ of charge $Q_F \in \mathbb{Z}$ under some $\mathrm{U}(1)_F$ symmetry, with a bare CS level K_F . After integrating out Φ , we have the $\mathrm{U}(1)_F$ bare CS level $K_F' = K_F$ if $m_0 \to \infty$ and $K_F' = K_F - Q_F^2$ if $m_0 \to -\infty$. Note that the bare Chern-Simons levels so obtained are integer-quantised, as needed by gauge invariance.

A.2 Flowing from Aharony duality

Let us consider the 'electric' theory in Aharony duality, $U(N_c)_0$ with N_f fundamentals and N_f antifundamentals. We can obtain any $SQCD[N_c, k, 0, n_f, n_a]$ (with l=0) by appropriately decoupling flavours.

Let us then consider a particular RG flow:

$$\delta : \operatorname{SQCD}[N_c, 0, 0, N_f, N_f] + \delta m_0 \rightarrow \operatorname{SQCD}[N_c, k, 0, n_f, n_a],$$
 (A.4)

which is triggered by a particular choice of real mass m_0 in the UV theory. This deformation will generate various flavour and mixed gauge-flavour CS levels $K_{GF}^{(e)}$ and $\Delta K_{FF}^{(e)}$, schematically. The $K_{GF}^{(e)}$ levels are part of the definition of the infrared theory. The pure flavour CS levels corresponds to local terms which can be removed at will. Recall that we choose $K_{FF} = 0$ as part of our definition of unitary SQCD.

Because any real mass term is a VEV of a background vector multiplet, we can easily identify the dual mass deformation in the Aharony dual theory reviewed in section 4.1. By following the corresponding RG flow, we arrive at a dual description for $SQCD[N_c, k, 0, n_f, n_a]$:

$$\delta$$
: dual SQCD[$N_c, 0, 0, N_f, N_f$] + $\delta m_0 \rightarrow$ dual SQCD[$N_c, k, 0, n_f, n_a$]. (A.5)

In this process, we again generate CS levels $K_{GF}^{(m)}$ and $\Delta K_{FF}^{(m)}$. The bare flavour CS levels shifts are to be added to the levels (4.3)–(4.4) encountered in the Aharony dual theory. We then compute the magnetic flavour CS levels of dual SQCD as:

$$K_{FF} = K^{(Ah)} + \Delta K_{FF}^{(m)} - \Delta K_{FF}^{(e)},$$
 (A.6)

where we shifted the 'electric' flavour CS levels generated by the RG flow to the 'magnetic' side of the duality.

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c)$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$	$U(1)_0$
Q_i			1	1	0	r	0
$ ilde{Q}^j$		1		1	0	r	0
Q_{α}			1	1	0	r	ϵ
$ ilde{Q}^eta$		1		1	0	r	ϵ

Table 15. Fields and charges for the mass deformation of the electric theory in the minimally chiral case. Every field charged under $U(1)_0$ is integrated out. Here, we use the flavour indices $i=1,\dots,n_f,\ j=1,\dots,n_a,\ \alpha=1,\dots,p,$ and $\beta=1,\dots,q,$ as well as $\epsilon=\text{sign}(m_0)$. We only keep track of the flavour symmetries that survive in the infrared (and of $U(1)_0$).

A.2.1 Minimally chiral duality: $|k| > |k_c|$

To derive the minimally chiral Seiberg-like duality from Aharony duality, we start with the electric theory $SQCD[N_c, 0, 0, N_f, N_f]$ and we integrate out p fundamental and q antifundamental chiral multiplets with a common real mass m_0 , so that we obtain $SQCD[N_c, k, 0, n_f, n_a]$ with:

$$n_f = N_f - p$$
, $n_a = N_f - q$, $k = \frac{1}{2}(p+q)\operatorname{sign}(m_0)$. (A.7)

Note that $k_c \equiv \frac{1}{2}(n_f - n_a) = \frac{1}{2}(q - p)$ and $|k| = \frac{1}{2}(p + q)$, hence we flow to minimally chiral SQCD, $|k| > |k_c|$, if and only if p > 0 and q > 0. The light and heavy fields are shown in table 15. We identify some symmetry U(1)₀ along which we deform, with $\epsilon \equiv \text{sign}(m_0) = \text{sign}(k)$. For $k_c \neq 0$, we also need to shift the origin of the real Coulomb branch and of the FI parameter according to:

$$\sigma_a \to \sigma_a + \frac{k_c}{N_f} m_0 , \qquad \qquad \xi \to \xi - k_c |m_0| .$$
 (A.8)

In other words, the $U(1)_0$ symmetry mixes with the gauge symmetry and with the topological symmetry [30].

On the magnetic side, we consider the Aharony dual gauge theory $U(N_c^D)_0$ with rank:

$$N_c^D = N_f - N_c$$

= $|k| + \frac{1}{2}(n_f + n_a) - N_c$. (A.9)

The $U(1)_0$ charge assignment in the dual theory are shown in table 16. For p and q strictly positive, all the fields in the bottom rows must be integrated out. The bare CS levels are shifted according to:

$$K_{IJ} \to K_{IJ} - \sum_{\Phi \mid Q_0[\Phi] < 0} Q_I[\Phi] Q_J[\Phi],$$
 (A.10)

where the sum is over all chiral multiplets with strictly negative $U(1)_0$ charge. To determine the $U(1)_0$ assignement of the gauge singlets \mathfrak{T}^{\pm} , one recalls that they are identified with the monopoles of the electric theory. The latter have an induced $U(1)_0$ charge given by:

$$Q_0[\mathfrak{T}^{\pm}] = \mp \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\psi} Q_G[\psi] |Q_0[\psi]| - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\psi} Q_0[\psi], \qquad (A.11)$$

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^\mathrm{D})$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$	$U(1)_0$
q_{j}		1		-1	0	1-r	0
$ ilde{q}^i$			1	-1	0	1-r	0
M_i^j	1			2	0	2r	0
q_{eta}		1	1	-1	0	1-r	$-\epsilon$
$ ilde{q}^{lpha}$		1	1	-1	0	1-r	$-\epsilon$
M_i^{β}	1		1	2	0	2r	ϵ
M_{α}^{j}	1	1		2	0	2r	ϵ
M_{α}^{β}	1	1	1	2	0	2r	2ϵ
\mathfrak{T}^+	1	1	1	$-N_f$	1	r_T	$-p \ (\epsilon = 1) \text{ or } q \ (\epsilon = -1)$
\mathfrak{T}^-	1	1	1	$-N_f$	-1	r_T	$-q \ (\epsilon = 1) \text{ or } p \ (\epsilon = -1)$

Table 16. Fields and charges for the mass deformation of the Aharony dual theory, in the minimally chiral case. Here $\epsilon = \text{sign}(k)$.

where Q_G denotes the gauge charge and we sum over all Dirac fermions in the theory. It is then a straightforward exercise to derive the minimally chiral dual theory spelled out in section 4.2.

A.2.2 Marginally chiral duality: $|k| = |k_c|$

The marginally chiral cases can be obtained as special limits of the minimally chiral case, when either p or q vanishes:

$$k = k_c > 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad p = 0 \,, \quad \epsilon = 1 \,,$$

$$k = -k_c > 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad q = 0 \,, \quad \epsilon = 1 \,,$$

$$k = k_c < 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad p = 0 \,, \quad \epsilon = -1 \,,$$

$$k = -k_c < 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad q = 0 \,, \quad \epsilon = -1 \,.$$
(A.12)

In those cases, we see from 16 that either \mathfrak{T}^+ or \mathfrak{T}^- survives the mass deformation of the dual theory.

A.2.3 Maximally chiral duality: $|k| < |k_c|$

In the maximally chiral case, we start from the electric side of Aharony duality and integrate fundamental or antifundementals with opposite masses. Consider first the case $k_c > 0$. In this case, we choose to integrate out q antifundamental with a positive mass, and \tilde{q} antifundamental with negative mass, so that we obtain:

$$n_f = N_f$$
, $n_a = N_f - q - \tilde{q}$, $k = \frac{1}{2}(q - \tilde{q})$. (A.13)

Note that $k_c = \frac{1}{2}(q + \tilde{q})$ in this case, hence $|k| < k_c$ as expected. We also need to shift the Coulomb branch origin and the FI term according to:

$$\sigma_a \to \sigma_a + \frac{k}{N_f} m_0 , \qquad \qquad \xi \to \xi - k_c |m_0| .$$
 (A.14)

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c)$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$	$U(1)_{0}$
Q_i			1	1	0	r	0
$ ilde{Q}^j$		1		1	0	r	0
$ ilde{Q}^{\gamma}$		1	1	1	0	r	1
$ ilde{Q}^{\delta}$		1	1	1	0	r	-1
Q_{γ}		1	1	1	0	r	1
Q_{δ}		1	1	1	0	r	-1

Table 17. Fields and charges for the mass deformation of the Aharony electric theory which leads to SQCD with $|k| < |k_c|$, with the massive fields for either $k_c > 0$ (middle two rows) or $k_c < 0$ (bottom two rows). Here $\gamma = 1, \dots, q$ and $\delta = 1, \dots, \widetilde{q}$.

	$\mathrm{U}(N_c^\mathrm{D})$	$SU(n_f)$	$SU(n_a)$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_A$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_T$	$\mathrm{U}(1)_R$	$U(1)_0$
q_{j}		1		-1	0	1-r	0
$ ilde{q}^i$			1	-1	0	1-r	0
M_i^j	1			2	0	2r	0
q_{γ}		1	1	-1	0	1-r	-1
q_{δ}		1	1	-1	0	1-r	1
M_i^{γ}	1		1	2	0	2r	1
M_i^{δ}	1		1	2	0	2r	-1
\mathfrak{T}_+	1	1	1	$-N_f$	1	r_T	\widetilde{q}
\mathfrak{T}	1	1	1	$-N_f$	-1	r_T	-q
$ ilde{q}^{\gamma}$		1	1	-1	0	1 - r	-1
$ ilde{q}^{\delta}$		1	1	-1	0	1-r	1
M_{γ}^{j}	1	1		2	0	2r	1
M_{δ}^{j}	1	1		2	0	2r	-1
\mathfrak{T}_+	1	1	1	$-N_f$	1	r_T	-q
\mathfrak{T}	1	1	1	$-N_f$	-1	r_T	\widetilde{q}

Table 18. Fields and charges for the mass deformation of the Aharony dual theory, to obtain the maximally chiral case. The middle rows are for $k_c > 0$, and the bottom rows for $k_c < 0$.

For $k_c < 0$, we similarly choose to integrate out fundamental multiplets as shown in table 17. Then we have:

$$n_f = N_f - q - \tilde{q}, \qquad n_a = N_f, \qquad k = \frac{1}{2}(q - \tilde{q}),$$
 (A.15)

with $k_c = -\frac{1}{2}(q + \tilde{q})$. In either case, the dual gauge group is $U(N_c^D)_{-k}$ with $N_c^D = \max(n_f, n_a) - N_c$. The details of the dual theory can be worked out from the charge assignment shown in table 18 for the Aharony dual fields.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- [1] S. Kim, The Complete superconformal index for N=6 Chern-Simons theory, Nucl. Phys. B 821 (2009) 241 [Erratum ibid. 864 (2012) 884] [arXiv:0903.4172] [INSPIRE].
- [2] A. Kapustin, B. Willett and I. Yaakov, Exact Results for Wilson Loops in Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories with Matter, JHEP 03 (2010) 089 [arXiv:0909.4559] [INSPIRE].
- [3] D.L. Jafferis, The Exact Superconformal R-Symmetry Extremizes Z, JHEP 05 (2012) 159 [arXiv:1012.3210] [INSPIRE].
- [4] Y. Imamura and S. Yokoyama, Index for three dimensional superconformal field theories with general R-charge assignments, JHEP 04 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1101.0557] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Kapustin and B. Willett, Generalized Superconformal Index for Three Dimensional Field Theories, arXiv:1106.2484 [INSPIRE].
- [6] B. Willett, Localization on three-dimensional manifolds, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 443006[arXiv:1608.02958] [INSPIRE].
- [7] C. Closset, T.T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia and Z. Komargodski, Supersymmetric Field Theories on Three-Manifolds, JHEP 05 (2013) 017 [arXiv:1212.3388] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Closset and H. Kim, Three-dimensional N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories and partition functions on Seifert manifolds: A review, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 34 (2019) 1930011 [arXiv:1908.08875] [INSPIRE].
- [9] C. Closset, H. Kim and B. Willett, Supersymmetric partition functions and the three-dimensional A-twist, JHEP 03 (2017) 074 [arXiv:1701.03171] [INSPIRE].
- [10] C. Closset, H. Kim and B. Willett, Seifert fibering operators in $3d \mathcal{N} = 2$ theories, JHEP 11 (2018) 004 [arXiv:1807.02328] [INSPIRE].
- [11] E. Witten, Dynamical Breaking of Supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 188 (1981) 513 [INSPIRE].
- [12] N.A. Nekrasov and S.L. Shatashvili, Bethe/Gauge correspondence on curved spaces, JHEP 01 (2015) 100 [arXiv:1405.6046] [INSPIRE].
- [13] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, A topologically twisted index for three-dimensional supersymmetric theories, JHEP 07 (2015) 127 [arXiv:1504.03698] [INSPIRE].
- [14] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, Supersymmetric partition functions on Riemann surfaces, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. **96** (2017) 13 [arXiv:1605.06120] [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Closset and H. Kim, Comments on twisted indices in 3d supersymmetric gauge theories, JHEP 08 (2016) 059 [arXiv:1605.06531] [INSPIRE].
- [16] E. Witten, Supersymmetric index of three-dimensional gauge theory, hep-th/9903005 [DOI:10.1142/9789812793850_0013] [INSPIRE].
- [17] K. Intriligator and N. Seiberg, Aspects of 3d N=2 Chern-Simons-Matter Theories, JHEP 07 (2013) 079 [arXiv:1305.1633] [INSPIRE].

- [18] N.A. Nekrasov and S.L. Shatashvili, Supersymmetric vacua and Bethe ansatz, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 192-193 (2009) 91 [arXiv:0901.4744] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Y. Jiang and Y. Zhang, Algebraic geometry and Bethe ansatz. Part I. The quotient ring for BAE, JHEP 03 (2018) 087 [arXiv:1710.04693] [INSPIRE].
- [20] J. Lykke Jacobsen, Y. Jiang and Y. Zhang, Torus partition function of the six-vertex model from algebraic geometry, JHEP 03 (2019) 152 [arXiv:1812.00447] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D.A. Cox, J. Little and D. O'shea, *Using algebraic geometry*, vol. 185, Springer Science & Business Media (2006) [DOI:10.1007/b138611].
- [22] W. Decker, G.-M. Greuel, G. Pfister and H. Schönemann, SINGULAR 4-3-0 A computer algebra system for polynomial computations, http://www.singular.uni-kl.de (2022).
- [23] W.R. Inc., Mathematica, Version 13.2, https://www.wolfram.com/mathematica.
- [24] M. Kauers and V. Levandovskyy, *Singular.m*, https://www3.risc.jku.at/research/combinat/software/Singular.
- [25] J. Eckhard, H. Kim, S. Schafer-Nameki and B. Willett, *Higher-Form Symmetries, Bethe Vacua, and the 3d-3d Correspondence*, *JHEP* **01** (2020) 101 [arXiv:1910.14086] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Gu, Y. Jiang and M. Sperling, Rational Q-systems, Higgsing and Mirror Symmetry, SciPost Phys. 14 (2023) 034 [arXiv:2208.10047] [INSPIRE].
- [27] K.A. Intriligator and N. Seiberg, Mirror symmetry in three-dimensional gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 387 (1996) 513 [hep-th/9607207] [INSPIRE].
- [28] O. Aharony, IR duality in d=3 N=2 supersymmetric USp $(2N_c)$ and U (N_c) gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B **404** (1997) 71 [hep-th/9703215] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Giveon and D. Kutasov, Seiberg Duality in Chern-Simons Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 812 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0808.0360] [INSPIRE].
- [30] F. Benini, C. Closset and S. Cremonesi, Comments on 3d Seiberg-like dualities, JHEP 10 (2011) 075 [arXiv:1108.5373] [INSPIRE].
- [31] V. Niarchos, Seiberg Duality in Chern-Simons Theories with Fundamental and Adjoint Matter, JHEP 11 (2008) 001 [arXiv:0808.2771] [INSPIRE].
- [32] S. Cremonesi, Type IIB construction of flavoured ABJ(M) and fractional M2 branes, JHEP **01** (2011) 076 [arXiv:1007.4562] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Kapustin, Seiberg-like duality in three dimensions for orthogonal gauge groups, arXiv:1104.0466 [INSPIRE].
- [34] A. Kapustin, H. Kim and J. Park, Dualities for 3d Theories with Tensor Matter, JHEP 12 (2011) 087 [arXiv:1110.2547] [INSPIRE].
- [35] O. Aharony and I. Shamir, On $O(N_c)$ d=3 N=2 supersymmetric QCD Theories, JHEP 12 (2011) 043 [arXiv:1109.5081] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J. Park and K.-J. Park, Seiberg-like Dualities for 3d N=2 Theories with SU(N) gauge group, JHEP 10 (2013) 198 [arXiv:1305.6280] [INSPIRE].
- [37] O. Aharony and D. Fleischer, IR Dualities in General 3d Supersymmetric SU(N) QCD Theories, JHEP 02 (2015) 162 [arXiv:1411.5475] [INSPIRE].
- [38] F. Benini, S. Benvenuti and S. Pasquetti, SUSY monopole potentials in 2+1 dimensions, JHEP **08** (2017) 086 [arXiv:1703.08460] [INSPIRE].

- [39] A. Amariti, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, Monopole Quivers and new 3D N=2 dualities, Nucl. Phys. B 924 (2017) 153 [arXiv:1705.09297] [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Dimofte, D. Gaiotto and N.M. Paquette, Dual boundary conditions in 3d SCFT's, JHEP 05 (2018) 060 [arXiv:1712.07654] [INSPIRE].
- [41] C. Hwang, H. Kim and J. Park, On 3d Seiberg-Like Dualities with Two Adjoints, Fortsch. Phys. 66 (2018) 1800064 [arXiv:1807.06198] [INSPIRE].
- [42] M. Fazzi, A. Lanir, S.S. Razamat and O. Sela, Chiral 3d SU(3) SQCD and $\mathcal{N}=2$ mirror duality, JHEP 11 (2018) 025 [arXiv:1808.04173] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Benvenuti, A tale of exceptional 3d dualities, JHEP 03 (2019) 125 [arXiv:1809.03925] [INSPIRE].
- [44] K. Nii, Duality and Confinement in 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ "chiral" SU(N) gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 939 (2019) 507 [arXiv:1809.10757] [INSPIRE].
- [45] K. Nii, 3d "chiral" Kutasov-Schwimmer duality, Nucl. Phys. B 952 (2020) 114920 [arXiv:1901.08642] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Giacomelli, Dualities for adjoint SQCD in three dimensions and emergent symmetries, JHEP 03 (2019) 144 [arXiv:1901.09947] [INSPIRE].
- [47] K. Nii, "Chiral" and "non-chiral" 3d Seiberg duality, JHEP 04 (2020) 098
 [arXiv:1907.03340] [INSPIRE].
- [48] K. Nii, Generalized Giveon-Kutasov duality, JHEP 08 (2021) 130 [arXiv:2005.04858] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Kubo and K. Nii, $3d \mathcal{N} = 3$ generalized Giveon-Kutasov duality, JHEP **04** (2022) 158 [arXiv:2111.13366] [INSPIRE].
- [50] T. Okazaki and D.J. Smith, Web of Seiberg-like dualities for 3D N=2 quivers, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 086023 [arXiv:2112.07347] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Benvenuti, I. Garozzo and G. Lo Monaco, Monopoles and dualities in $3d \mathcal{N} = 2$ quivers, JHEP 10 (2021) 191 [arXiv:2012.08556] [INSPIRE].
- [52] C. Hwang, S. Kim and J. Park, Monopole deformations of 3d Seiberg-like dualities with adjoint matters, JHEP 11 (2022) 111 [arXiv:2202.09000] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Amariti and M. Fazzi, Dualities for three-dimensional $\mathcal{N}=2$ SU(N_c) chiral adjoint SQCD, JHEP 11 (2020) 030 [arXiv:2007.01323] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Amariti and S. Rota, Webs of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ dualities with D-type superpotentials, JHEP **01** (2023) 124 [arXiv:2204.06961] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Amariti and D. Morgante, Chiral dualities for SQCD₃ with D-type superpotential, JHEP **02** (2023) 032 [arXiv:2209.12673] [INSPIRE].
- [56] O. Aharony, Baryons, monopoles and dualities in Chern-Simons-matter theories, JHEP 02 (2016) 093 [arXiv:1512.00161] [INSPIRE].
- [57] N. Seiberg, T. Senthil, C. Wang and E. Witten, A Duality Web in 2+1 Dimensions and Condensed Matter Physics, Annals Phys. 374 (2016) 395 [arXiv:1606.01989] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Karch and D. Tong, Particle-Vortex Duality from 3d Bosonization, Phys. Rev. X 6 (2016) 031043 [arXiv:1606.01893] [INSPIRE].

- [59] G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, Three Dimensional Bosonization From Supersymmetry, JHEP 11 (2015) 013 [arXiv:1507.04378] [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Kachru, M. Mulligan, G. Torroba and H. Wang, Bosonization and Mirror Symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 085009 [arXiv:1608.05077] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A. Karch, B. Robinson and D. Tong, More Abelian Dualities in 2+1 Dimensions, JHEP 01 (2017) 017 [arXiv:1609.04012] [INSPIRE].
- [62] O. Aharony, F. Benini, P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, *Chern-Simons-matter dualities with SO and USp gauge groups*, *JHEP* **02** (2017) 072 [arXiv:1611.07874] [INSPIRE].
- [63] F. Benini, P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, Comments on global symmetries, anomalies, and duality in (2+1)d, JHEP 04 (2017) 135 [arXiv:1702.07035] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Amariti and S. Rota, $3d\ N=2$ dualities for $SU(N_c)\times U(1)$ Chern-Simons gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 976 (2022) 115710 [arXiv:2106.13762] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. Kapustin and M.J. Strassler, On mirror symmetry in three-dimensional Abelian gauge theories, JHEP 04 (1999) 021 [hep-th/9902033] [INSPIRE].
- [66] E. Witten, SL(2, Z) action on three-dimensional conformal field theories with Abelian symmetry, in the proceedings of the From Fields to Strings: Circumnavigating Theoretical Physics: A Conference in Tribute to Ian Kogan, (2003), p. 1173–1200 [hep-th/0307041] [INSPIRE].
- [67] P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, Level/rank Duality and Chern-Simons-Matter Theories, JHEP 09 (2016) 095 [arXiv:1607.07457] [INSPIRE].
- [68] C. Closset et al., Contact Terms, Unitarity, and F-Maximization in Three-Dimensional Superconformal Theories, JHEP 10 (2012) 053 [arXiv:1205.4142] [INSPIRE].
- [69] C. Closset et al., Comments on Chern-Simons Contact Terms in Three Dimensions, JHEP 09 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1206.5218] [INSPIRE].
- [70] K. Hori and D. Tong, Aspects of Non-Abelian Gauge Dynamics in Two-Dimensional N = (2,2) Theories, JHEP 05 (2007) 079 [hep-th/0609032] [INSPIRE].
- [71] A.N. Redlich, Parity Violation and Gauge Noninvariance of the Effective Gauge Field Action in Three-Dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 29 (1984) 2366 [INSPIRE].
- [72] A.J. Niemi and G.W. Semenoff, Axial Anomaly Induced Fermion Fractionization and Effective Gauge Theory Actions in Odd Dimensional Space-Times, Phys. Rev. Lett. **51** (1983) 2077 [INSPIRE].
- [73] L. Alvarez-Gaume, S. Della Pietra and G.W. Moore, *Anomalies and Odd Dimensions*, *Annals Phys.* **163** (1985) 288 [INSPIRE].
- [74] Y. Jiang, R. Wen and Y. Zhang, Exact Quench Dynamics from Algebraic Geometry, arXiv:2109.10568 [INSPIRE].
- [75] N. Seiberg, Electric-magnetic duality in supersymmetric nonAbelian gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 129 [hep-th/9411149] [INSPIRE].
- [76] O. Aharony et al., Aspects of N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 499 (1997) 67 [hep-th/9703110] [INSPIRE].
- [77] C. Closset and O. Khlaif, On the Witten index of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ unitary SQCD with general CS levels, arXiv:2305.00534 [INSPIRE].

- [78] C. Córdova, P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, *Time-Reversal Symmetry, Anomalies, and Dualities in* (2+1)d, *SciPost Phys.* **5** (2018) 006 [arXiv:1712.08639] [INSPIRE].
- [79] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and S. Schafer-Nameki, *Anomalies of Generalized Symmetries from Solitonic Defects*, arXiv:2205.15330 [INSPIRE].
- [80] A. Kapustin and E. Witten, Electric-Magnetic Duality And The Geometric Langlands Program, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 1 (2007) 1 [hep-th/0604151] [INSPIRE].
- [81] F. Benini, C. Closset and S. Cremonesi, Quantum moduli space of Chern-Simons quivers, wrapped D6-branes and AdS₄/CFT₃, JHEP **09** (2011) 005 [arXiv:1105.2299] [INSPIRE].
- [82] C. Closset, H. Kim and B. Willett, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric indices and the four-dimensional A-model, JHEP 08 (2017) 090 [arXiv:1707.05774] [INSPIRE].
- [83] K. Ohta, Supersymmetric index and s rule for type IIB branes, JHEP 10 (1999) 006 [hep-th/9908120] [INSPIRE].
- [84] M. Bullimore and A. Ferrari, Twisted Hilbert Spaces of 3d Supersymmetric Gauge Theories, JHEP 08 (2018) 018 [arXiv:1802.10120] [INSPIRE].
- [85] M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari, H. Kim and G. Xu, The twisted index and topological saddles, JHEP 05 (2022) 116 [arXiv:2007.11603] [INSPIRE].
- [86] N. Dorey and D. Tong, Mirror symmetry and toric geometry in three-dimensional gauge theories, JHEP 05 (2000) 018 [hep-th/9911094] [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Kapustin and B. Willett, Wilson loops in supersymmetric Chern-Simons-matter theories and duality, arXiv:1302.2164 [INSPIRE].
- [88] H. Jockers, P. Mayr, U. Ninad and A. Tabler, Wilson loop algebras and quantum K-theory for Grassmannians, JHEP 10 (2020) 036 [arXiv:1911.13286] [INSPIRE].
- [89] K. Ueda and Y. Yoshida, $3d \mathcal{N} = 2$ Chern-Simons-matter theory, Bethe ansatz, and quantum K-theory of Grassmannians, JHEP 08 (2020) 157 [arXiv:1912.03792] [INSPIRE].
- [90] W. Gu, L. Mihalcea, E. Sharpe and H. Zou, Quantum K theory of symplectic Grassmannians, J. Geom. Phys. 177 (2022) 104548 [arXiv:2008.04909] [INSPIRE].
- [91] H. Jockers, P. Mayr, U. Ninad and A. Tabler, *BPS indices, modularity and perturbations in quantum K-theory, JHEP* **02** (2022) 044 [arXiv:2106.07670] [INSPIRE].
- [92] W. Gu, L.C. Mihalcea, E. Sharpe and H. Zou, Quantum K theory of Grassmannians, Wilson line operators, and Schur bundles, arXiv:2208.01091 [INSPIRE].